ISSN: 2146-1414 Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy

June 2018	Volume 27	lssue 2	www.tsnm.org







Nükleer Tıp Sempozyumu

Moleküler Görünteleme ve Radyonüklid Tedavilerde Yenilikler : Değişen Hasta Yönetimi



MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy

The Owner on Behalf of Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine

Prof. Gamze Çapa Kaya, MD. Dokuz Eylül University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Publishing Manager

Prof. Zehra Özcan, MD. Ege University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey E-mail: zehra.ozcan@yahoo.com

Editor in Chief

Prof. Zehra Özcan, MD. Ege University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey E-mail: zehra.ozcan@yahoo.com © ORCID ID: 0000-0002-6942-4704

Associate Editor

Associate Prof. Murat Fani Bozkurt, MD. Hacettepe University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey E-mail: fanibozkurt@gmail.com © ORCID ID: 0000-0003-2016-2624

Prof. Tanju Yusuf Erdil, MD. Marmara University Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: yerdil@marmara.edu.tr

Associate Prof. Nalan Selçuk, MD. Yeditepe University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey E-mail: nalanselcuk@yeditepe.edu.tr

Statistics Editors

Prof. Gül Ergör, MD. Dokuz Eylül University, Medical School, Department of Public Health, İzmir, Turkey E-mail: gulergor@deu.edu.tr

Prof. Sadettin Kılıçkap, MD. Hacettepe University, Medical School, Department of Preventive Oncology, Ankara, Turkey E-mail: skilickap@yahoo.com

English Language Editor Didem Öncel Yakar, MD. İstanbul, Turkey

Scientific Advisory Board

Ayşegül Akgün

Ege University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey Esma Akın The George Washington University, Medical School, Department of Diagnostic Radiology, Washington DC, USA Claudine Als Hopitaux Robert Schuman Zitha Klinik, Médecine Nucléaire, Luxembourg Vera Artiko Clinical Center of Serbia, Center for Nuclear Medicine, Belgrade, Serbia Nuri Arslan Health Sciences University, Gülhane Medical School, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey Marika Bajo Lund University Hospital, Clinic of Clinical Physiology, Lund, Sweden Lorenzo Biassoni Great Ormond Street Hospital for Children NHS Foundation Trust, Department of Radiology, London, United Kingdom Hans Jürgen Biersack University of Bonn, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Clinic of Radiology, Bonn, Germany M. Donald Blaufox Albert Einstein College of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Division of Nuclear Medicine, New York, USA. Patrick Bourguet Centre Eugène Marquis, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Clinic of Radiology, Rennes, France A. Cahid Civelek NIH Clinical Center, Division of Nuclear Medicine, Bethesta, USA Arturo Chiti Humanitas University, Department of Biomedical Sciences; Humanitas Clinical and Research Center, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Milan. Italy Josep Martin Comin Hospital Universitari de Bellvitge, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Barcelona, Spain Alberto Cuocolo University of Naples Federico II, Department of Advanced Biomedical Sciences, Napoli, Italy Tevfik Fikret Cermik Health Sciences University, İstanbul Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Angelika Bischof Delaloye University Hospital of Lausanne, Department of Radiology, Lausanne, Switzerland Mustafa Demir İstanbul University, Cerrahpaşa Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Hakan Demir Kocaeli University Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Kocaeli, Turkey Peter Josef Ell University College Hospital, Institute of Nuclear Medicine, London, United Kingdom Taniu Yusuf Erdi Marmara University, Pendik Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Türkan Ertav Dokuz Eylül Üniversity, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey Jure Fettich University Medical Centre Ljubljana, Department for Nuclear Medicine, Ljubljana, Slovenia **Christiane Franzius** Klinikum Bremen Mitte Center, Center for Modern Diagnostics, Bremen, Germany Lars Friberg University of Copenhagen Bispebjerg Hospital, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Copenhagen, Denmark



MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy

Jørgen Frøkiær	Vladimir Obradović
Aarhus University Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine and PET, Aarhus, Denmark	University of Belgrade, Faculty of Organizational Sciences, Department of Human Development Theory
Maria Lyra Georgosopoulou	Business Administration, Organizational Studies, Belgrade, Serbia
University of Athens, 1st Department of Radiology, Aretaieion Hospital, Radiation Physics Unit, Athens,	Yekta Özer
Greece	Hacettepe University, Faculty of Pharmacy, Department of Radiopharmaceutical, Ankara, Turkey
Gevorg Gevorgyan	Francesca Pons
he National Academy of Sciences of Armenia, H. Buniatian Institute of Biochemistry, Yerevan, Armenia	Hospital Clinic, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Barcelona, Spain
jeza Güleç	Monica Rossleigh
forida international University Herbert wertheim College of Medicine, Departments of Surgery and	Sydney Children's Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Sydney, Australia
iuclear Medicine, Mianii, USA	Dragana Sobic Saranovic
JSCHOLE Højgdard Jniversity of Copenhagen, Department of Clinical Physiology, Nuclear Medicine and PET, Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen Depmark	University of Belgrade, Medical School, Departments of Radiology, Oncology and Cardiology Belgrade, Serbia
	Mike Sathekge
Tel Aviv University Sackler Medical School, Assaf Harofeh Medical Center, Clinic of Otolaryngology-Head and Neck Surgery Haifa Israel	University of Pretoria, Steve Biko Academic Hospital, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Pretoria South Africa
saha luhasz	Kerim Sönmezoğlu
Vayne State University Medical School, Children's Hospital of Michigan, PET Center and Translational maging Laboratory. Detroit. USA	İstanbul University, Cerrahpaşa Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Zsolt Szabo
Metin Kır	The Johns Hopkins Hospital, Divisions of Radiology and Radiological Science, Baltimore, USA
nkara University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey	Istvan Szilvasi
rena Dimitrova Kostadinova	Semmelweis University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Budapest, Hungary
lexandrovska University Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Sofia, Bulgaria	Berna Okudan Tekin
ale Kostakoğlu	Ankara Numune Trainig and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey
he Mount Sinai Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, New York, USA	Mathew L. Thakur
Bakesh Kumar	Thomas Jefferson University, Department of Radiology, Pennsylvania, USA
Il India Institute of Medical Sciences, Department of Nuclear Medicine, New Delhi, India	Bülent Turgut
Georgios S. Limouris	Cumhuriyet University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Sivas, Turkey
thens University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Athens, Greece	Gülin Uçmak
uigi Mansi	Health Sciences University, Ankara Oncology Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine
econd University of Naples, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Naples, Italy	Ankara,Turkey
'usuf Menda	Doğangün Yüksel
Jniversity of Iowa Health Care, Carver College of Medicine, Department of Radiology, Iowa City, USA	Pamukkale University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Denizli, Turkey

Cinnah Caddesi Pilot Sokak No: 10/12 Çankaya 06650 Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 312 441 00 45 Fax: +90 312 441 12 95 Web: www.tsnm.org E-mail: dernekmerkezi@tsnm.org "Formerly Turkish Journal of Nuclear Medicine"

The paper used to print this journal conforms to ISO 9706: 1994 standard (Requirements for Permanence). The National Library of Medicine suggests that biomedical publications be printed on acid-free paper (alkaline paper). Reviewing the articles' conformity to the publishing standards of the Journal, typesetting, reviewing and editing the manuscripts and abstracts in English, creating links to source data, and publishing process are realized by Galenos.

galenos

Galenos Publishing House Owner and Publisher Erkan Mor Publication Director Nesrin Çolak Web Coordinators Soner Yıldırım Turgay Akpınar Web Assistant Başak Büşra Yılmaz Graphics Department Ayda Alaca Ciğdem Birinci

Project Coordinators Eda Kolukısa Hatice Balta Lütfiye Ayhan İrtem Zeynep Altındağ

Project Assistants Esra Semerci Günay Selimoğlu Sedanur Sert Finance Coordinator Sevinç Çakmak Research&Development Denis Sleptsov

Publisher Contact

Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 621 99 25 Fax: +90 (212) 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr/yayin@galenos.com.tr Web: www.galenos.com.tr Printing at: Özgün Ofset Ticaret Ltd. Şti. Yeşilce Mah. Aytekin Sk. No: 21 34418 4. Levent, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 (212) 280 00 09 Printing Date: 01 June 2018 ISSN: 2146-1414 E-ISSN: 2147-1959 International scientific journal published quarterly.



ABOUT US

MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy (formerly Turkish Journal of Nuclear Medicine) is the official publication of Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine.

Focus and Scope

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy (Mol Imaging Radionucl Ther, MIRT) is a double-blind peer-review journal published in English language. It publishes original research articles, reviews, editorials, short communications, letters, consensus statements, guidelines and case reports with a literature review on the topic, interesting images in the field of molecular imaging, multimodality imaging, nuclear medicine, radionuclide therapy, radiopharmacy, medical physics, dosimetry and radiobiology. MIRT is published three times a year (February, June, October). Audience: Nuclear medicine physicians, medical physicists, radiopharmaceutical scientists, radiobiologists.

The editorial policies are based on the "Recommendations for the Conduct, Reporting, Editing, and Publication of Scholarly Work in Medical Journals (ICMJE Recommendations)" by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (2016, archived at http://www.icmje.org/) rules.

Open Access Policy

This journal provides immediate open access to its content on the principle that making research freely available to the public supports a greater global exchange of knowledge.

Open Access Policy is based on rules of Budapest Open Access Initiative (BOAI) (http:// www.budapestopenaccessinitiative.org/). By "open access" to [peer-reviewed research literature], we mean its free availability on the public internet, permitting any users to read, download, copy, distribute, print, search, or link to the full texts of these articles, crawl them for indexing, pass them as data to software, or use them for any other lawful purpose, without financial, legal, or technical barriers other than those inseparable from gaining access to the internet itself. The only constraint on reproduction and distribution, and the only role for copyright in this domain, should be to give authors control over the integrity of their work and the right to be properly acknowledged and cited.

This journal is licensed under a Creative Commons 3.0 International License.

Permission Requests

Permission required for use any published under CC-BY-NC license with commercial purposes (selling, etc.) to protect copyright owner and author rights). Republication and reproduction of images or tables in any published material should be done with proper citation of source providing authors names; article title; journal title; year (volume) and page of publication; copyright year of the article.

Instructions for Authors

Instructions for authors are published in the journal and on the website http:// mirt.tsnmjournals.org

Manuscripts can only be submitted electronically through the Journal Agent website (http://www.journalagent.com/mirt/?plng=eng) after creating an account. This system allows online submission and review.

All published volumes in full text can be reached free of charge through the website http://mirt.tsnmjournals.org

Material Disclaimer

Scientific and legal responsibilities pertaining to the papers belong to the authors. Contents of the manuscripts and accuracy of references are also the author's responsibility. The Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine, the Editor, the Editorial Board or the publisher do not accept any responsibility for opinions expressed in articles.

Financial expenses of the journal are covered by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine.

Correspondence Address

Editor-in-Chief, Prof. Zehra Özcan, MD, Ege University, Medical School, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey Phone: +90 312 441 00 45 Fax: +90 312 441 12 97 E-mail: editor@tsnmjournals.org Web page: http://mirt.tsnmjournals.org

Publisher Corresponding Address

Galenos Yayınevi Tic. Ltd. Şti. Address: Molla Gürani Mah. Kaçamak Sk. No: 21/1 34093 Fındıkzade, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 212 621 99 25 Fax: +90 212 621 99 27 E-mail: info@galenos.com.tr

The journal is printed on an acid-free paper.



INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy (Mol Imaging Radionucl Ther, MIRT) publishes original research articles, short communications, reviews, editorials, case reports with a literature review on the topic, interesting images, consensus statements, guidelines, letters in the field of molecular imaging, multimodality imaging, nuclear medicine, radionuclide therapy, radiopharmacy, medical physics, dosimetry and radiobiology. MIRT is published by the Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine three times a year (February, June, October). The journal is printed on an acid-free paper.

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy does not charge any article submission or processing fees.

GENERAL INFORMATION

MIRT commits to rigorous peer review, and stipulates freedom from commercial influence, and promotion of the highest ethical and scientific standards in published articles. Neither the Editor(s) nor the publisher guarantees, warrants or endorses any product or service advertised in this publication. All articles are subject to review by the editors and peer reviewers. If the article is accepted for publication, it may be subjected to editorial revisions to aid clarity and understanding without changing the data presented.

Manuscripts must be written in English and must meet the requirements of the journal. The journal is in compliance with the uniform requirements for manuscripts submitted to biomedical journals published by the International Committee of Medical Journal Editors (NEJM 1997; 336:309-315, updated 2016). Manuscripts that do not meet these requirements will be returned to the author for necessary revision before the review. Authors of manuscripts requiring modifications have a maximum of two months to resubmit the revised text. Manuscripts returned after this deadline will be treated as new submissions.

It is the authors' responsibility to prepare a manuscript that meets ethical criteria. The Journal adheres to the principles set forth in the Helsinki Declaration October 2013 (https://www.wma.net/policies-post/wma-declaration-of-helsinki-ethical-principles-for-medical-research-involving-human-subjects/) and holds that all reported research involving "Human beings" conducted in accordance with such principles.

Reports describing data obtained from research conducted in human participants must contain a statement in the MATERIALS AND METHODS section indicating approval by the ethical review board (including the approval number) and affirmation that INFORMED CONSENT was obtained from each participant.

All manuscripts reporting experiments using animals must include a statement in the MATERIALS AND METHODS section giving assurance that all animals have received humane care in compliance with the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals (www.nap.edu) and indicating approval by the ethical review board.

If the study should have ethical approval, authors asked to provide ethical approval in order to proceed the review process. If they provide approval, review of the manuscript will continue.

In case report(s) and interesting image(s) a statement regarding the informed consent of the patients should be included in the manuscript and the identity of the patient(s) should be hidden.

Subjects must be identified only by number or letter, not by initials or names. Photographs of patients' faces should be included only if scientifically relevant. Authors must obtain written consent from the patient for use of such photographs.

In cases of image media usage that potentially expose patients' identity requires obtaining permission for publication from the patients or their parents/guardians. If the proposed publication concerns any commercial product, the author must include in the cover letter a statement indicating that the author(s) has (have) no financial or other interest with the product or explaining the nature of any relations (including consultancies) between the author(s) and editor the manufacturer or distributor of the product.

All submissions will be screened by Crossref Smilarity Check powered by "iThenticate". Manuscripts with an overall similarity index of greater than 25%, or duplication rate at or higher than 5% with a single source will be returned back to authors.

MANUSCRIPT CATEGORIES

1. Original Articles

2. Short Communications are short descriptions of focused studies with important, but very straightforward results.

3. Reviews address important topics in the field. Authors considering the submission of uninvited reviews should contact the editor in advance to determine if the topic that they propose is of current potential interest to the Journal. Reviews will be considered for publication only if they are written by authors who have at least three published manuscripts in the international peer reviewed journals and these studies should be cited in the review. Otherwise only invited reviews will be considered for peer review from qualified experts in the area.

4. Editorials are usually written by invitation of the editor by the editors on current topics or by the reviewers involved in the evaluation of a submitted manuscript and published concurrently with that manuscript.

5. Case Report and Literature Reviews are descriptions of a case or small number of cases revealing a previously undocumented disease process, a unique unreported manifestation or treatment of a known disease process, unique unreported complications of treatment regimens or novel and important insights into a condition's pathogenesis, presentation, and/or management. The journal's policy is to accept case reports only if it is accompanied by a review of the literature on the related topic. They should include an adequate number of images and figures. 6. Interesting Image

One of the regular parts of Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy is a section devoted to interesting images. Interesting image(s) should describe case(s) which are unique and include interesting findings adding insights into the interpretation of patient images, a condition's pathogenesis, presentation, and/ or management.

7. Consensus Statements or Guidelines may be submitted by professional societies. All such submissions will be subjected to peer review, must be modifiable in response to criticisms, and will be published only if they meet the Journal's usual editorial standards.

8. Letters to the Editor may be submitted in response to work that has been published in the Journal. Letters should be short commentaries related to specific points of agreement or disagreement with the published work.

Note on Prior Publication

Articles are accepted for publication on the condition that they are original, are not under consideration by another journal, or have not been previously



INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

MIRT

published. Direct quotations, tables, or illustrations that have appeared in copyrighted material must be accompanied by written permission for their use from the copyright owner and authors. Materials previously published in whole or in part shall not be considered for publication. At the time of submission, authors must report that the manuscript has not been published elsewhere. Abstracts or posters displayed at scientific meetings need not be reported.

MANUSCRIPT SUBMISSION PROCEDURES

MIRT only accepts electronic manuscript submission at the web site http:// www.journalagent.com/mirt/. After logging on to the website Click the 'online manuscript submission' icon. All corresponding authors should be provided with a password and a username after entering the information required. If you already have an account from a previous submission, enter your username and password to submit a new or revised manuscript. If you have forgotten your username and/ or password, please send an e-mail to the editorial office for assistance. After logging on to the article submission system please read carefully the directions of the system to give all needed information and attach the manuscript, tables and figures and additional documents.

All Submissions Must Include:

1. Completed Copyright Assignment & Disclosure of Potential Conflict of Interest Form; This form should be downloaded from the website (provided in the author section), filled in thoroughly and uploaded to the website during the submission.

2. All manuscripts describing data obtained from research conducted in human participants must be accompanied with an approval document by the ethical review board.

3. All manuscripts reporting experiments using animals must include approval document by the animal ethical review board.

4. All submissions must include the authorship contribution form which is signed by all authors.

Authors must complete all online submission forms. If you are unable to successfully upload the files please contact the editorial office by e-mail.

MANUSCRIPT PREPARATION

General Format

The Journal requires that all submissions be submitted according to these guidelines:

• Text should be double spaced with 2.5 cm margins on both sides using 12-point type in Times Roman font.

• All tables and figures must be placed after the text and must be labeled.

• Each section (abstract, text, references, tables, figures) should start on a separate page.

• Manuscripts should be prepared as a word document (*.doc) or rich text format (*.rtf).

• Please make the tables using the table function in Word.

• Abbreviations should be defined in parenthesis where the word is first mentioned and used consistently thereafter.

• Results should be expressed in metric units. Statistical analysis should be done accurately and with precision. Please consult a statistician if necessary.

• Authors' names and institutions should not be included in the manuscript text and should be written only in the title page.

Title Page

The title page should be a separate form from the main text and should include the following:

• Full title (in English and in Turkish). Turkish title will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers.

- Authors' names and institutions.
- Short title of not more than 40 characters for page headings.

• At least three and maximum eight keywords. (in English and in Turkish). Do not use abbreviations in the keywords. Turkish keywords will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please reenter your English keywords to the area provided for the Turkish keywords. English keywords should be provided from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh (Medical Subject Headings) while Turkish keywords should be provided from http://www.bilimterimleri.com.

- Word count (excluding abstract, figure legends and references).
- Corresponding author's e-mail and address, telephone and fax numbers.
- Name and address of person to whom reprint requests should be addressed.

Original Articles

Authors are required to state in their manuscripts that ethical approval from an appropriate committee and informed consents of the patients were obtained.

Original Articles should be submitted with a structured abstract of no more than 250 words. All information reported in the abstract must appear in the manuscript. The abstract should not include references. Please use complete sentences for all sections of the abstract. Structured abstract should include background, objective, methods, results and conclusions. Turkish abstract will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please reenter your English abstract to the area provided for the Turkish abstract.

- Introduction
- Materials and Methods
- Results
- Discussion
- Study Limitations
- Conclusion

May be given for contributors who are not listed as authors, or for grant support of the research.

References should be cited in numerical order (in parentheses) in the text and listed in the same numerical order at the end of the manuscript on a separate page or pages. The author is responsible for the accuracy of references. Examples of the reference style are given below. Further examples will be found in the articles describing the Uniform Requirements for Manuscripts Submitted to Biomedical Journals (Ann Intern Med.1988; 208:258-265, Br Med J. 1988; 296:401-405). The titles of journals should be abbreviated according to the style used in the Index Medicus. Journal Articles and Abstracts: Surnames and initials of author's name, title of the article, journal name, date, volume number, and pages. All authors should be listed regardless of number. The citation of unpublished papers, observations or personal communications is not permitted. Citing an abstract is



INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

MIRT

not recommended. Books: Surnames and initials of author's names, chapter title, editor's name, book title, edition, city, publisher, date and pages.

Sample References

Journal Article: Sayit E, Söylev M, Capa G, Durak I, Ada E, Yilmaz M. The role of technetium-99m-HMPAO-labeled WBC scintigraphy in the diagnosis of orbital cellulitis. Ann Nucl Med 2001;15:41-44.

Erselcan T, Hasbek Z, Tandogan I, Gumus C, Akkurt I. Modification of Diet in Renal Disease equation in the risk stratification of contrast induced acute kidney injury in hospital inpatients. Nefrologia 2009 doi: 10.3265/Nefrologia.2009.29.5.5449. en.full.

Article in a journal published ahead of print: Ludbrook J. Musculovenous pumps in the human lower limb. Am Heart J 2009;00:1-6. (accessed 20 February 2009).

Lang TF, Duryea J. Peripheral Bone Mineral Assessment of the Axial Skeleton: Technical Aspects. In: Orwoll ES, Bliziotes M (eds). Osteoporosis: Pathophsiology and Clinical Management. New Jersey, Humana Pres Inc, 2003;83–104.

Books: Greenspan A. Orthopaedic Radiology a Pratical Approach. 3th ed. Philadelphia, Lippincott Williams Wilkins 2000, 295-330.

Website: Smith JR. 'Choosing Your Reference Style', Online Referencing 2(3), http://orj.sagepub.com (2003, accessed October 2008).

- Tables

Tables must be constructed as simply as possible. Each table must have a concise heading and should be submitted on a separate page. Tables must not simply duplicate the text or figures. Number all tables in the order of their citation in the text. Include a title for each table (a brief phrase, preferably no longer than 10 to 15 words). Include all tables in a single file following the manuscript.

- Figure Legends

Figure legends should be submitted on a separate page and should be clear and informative.

- Figures

Number all figures (graphs, charts, photographs, and illustrations) in the order of their citation in the text. At submission, the following file formats are acceptable: AI, EMF, EPS, JPG, PDF, PSD, TIF. Figures may be embedded at the end of the manuscript text file or loaded as separate files for submission. All images MUST be at or above intended display size, with the following image resolutions: Line Art 800 dpi, Combination (Line Art + Halftone) 600 dpi, Halftone 300 dpi. Image files also must be cropped as close to the actual image as possible.

Short Communications:

Short communications should be submitted with a structured abstract of no more than 200 words. These manuscripts should be no longer than 2000 words, and include no more than two figures and tables and 20 references. Other rules which the authors are required to prepare and submit their manuscripts are the same as described above for the original articles.

Review Articles:

- Title page (see above)

- Abstract: Maximum 250 words; without structural divisions; in English and in Turkish . Turkish abstract will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please reenter your English abstract to the area provided for the Turkish abstract.

- Text

- Conclusion
- Acknowledgements (if any)

- References

Editorial:

- Title page (see above)

- Abstract: Maximum 250 words; without structural divisions; in English and in Turkish. Turkish abstract will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please re enter your English abstract to the area provided for the Turkish abstract.

Text
References

Case Report and Literature Review

- Title page (see above)

- Abstract: Approximately 100-150 words; without structural divisions; in English and in Turkish. Turkish abstract will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please re-enter your English abstract to the area provided for the Turkish abstract.

- Case report
- Literature Review and Discussion
- References

Interesting Image:

No manuscript text is required. Interesting Image submissions must include the following:

Title Page: (see Original article section)

Abstract: Approximately 100-150 words; without structural divisions; in English and in Turkish. Turkish abstract will be provided by the editorial office for the authors who are not Turkish speakers. If you are not a native Turkish speaker, please re-enter your English abstract to the area provided for the Turkish abstract. Image(s): The number of images is left to the discretion of the author. (See Original article section)

Figure Legend: Reference citations should appear in the legends, not in the abstract. Since there is no manuscript text, the legends for illustrations should be prepared in considerable detail but should be no more than 500 words total. The case should be presented and discussed in the Figure legend section.

References: Maximum eight references (see original article section).

Letters to the Editor:

- Title page (see above)

- Short comment to a published work, no longer than 500 words, no figures or tables.

- References no more than five.

Consensus Statements or Guidelines: These manuscripts should typically be no longer than 4000 words and include no more than six figures and tables and 120 references.



MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Proofs and Reprints

Proofs and a reprint orders are sent to the corresponding author. The author should designate by footnote on the title page of the manuscript the name and address of the person to whom reprint requests should be directed. The manuscript when published will become the property of the journal.

Archiving

The editorial office will retain all manuscripts and related documentation (correspondence, reviews, etc.) for 12 months following the date of publication or rejection.

Submission Preparation Checklist

As part of the submission process, authors are required to check off their submission's compliance with all of the following items, and submissions may be returned to authors that do not adhere to these guidelines.

1. The submission has not been previously published, nor is it before another journal for consideration (or an explanation has been provided in Comments to the Editor). 2. The submission file is in Microsoft Word, RTF, or WordPerfect document file format. The text is double-spaced; uses a 12-point font; employs italics, rather than underlining (except with URL addresses); and the location for all illustrations, figures, and tables should be marked within the text at the appropriate points.

3. Where available, URLs for the references will be provided.

4. All authors should be listed in the references, regardless of the number.

5. The text adheres to the stylistic and bibliographic requirements outlined in the Author Guidelines, which is found in About the Journal.

6. English keywords should be provided from http://www.nlm.nih.gov/mesh(Medical Subject Headings), while Turkish keywords should be provided from http://www. bilimterimleri.com

7. The title page should be a separate document from the main text and should be uploaded separately.

8. The "Affirmation of Originality and Assignment of Copyright/The Disclosure Form for Potential Conflicts of Interest Form" and Authorship Contribution Form should be downloaded from the website, filled thoroughly and uploaded during the submission of the manuscript.

TO AUTHORS

Copyright Notice

The author(s) hereby affirms that the manuscript submitted is original, that all statement asserted as facts are based on author(s) careful investigation and

research for accuracy, that the manuscript does not, in whole or part, infringe any copyright, that it has not been published in total or in part and is not being submitted or considered for publication in total or in part elsewhere. Completed Copyright Assignment & Affirmation of Originality Form will be uploaded during submission. By signing this form;

1. Each author acknowledges that he/she participated in the work in a substantive way and is prepared to take public responsibility for the work.

2. Each author further affirms that he or she has read and understands the "Ethical Guidelines for Publication of Research".

3. The author(s), in consideration of the acceptance of the manuscript for publication, does hereby assign and transfer to the Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy all of the rights and interest in and the copyright of the work in its current form and in any form subsequently revised for publication and/ or electronic dissemination.

Privacy Statement

The names and email addresses entered in this journal site will be used exclusively for the stated purposes of this journal and will not be made available for any other purpose or to any other party.

Peer Review Process

1. The manuscript is assigned to an editor, who reviews the manuscript and makes an initial decision based on manuscript quality and editorial priorities.

2. For those manuscripts sent for external peer review, the editor assigns at least two reviewers to the manuscript.

3. The reviewers review the manuscript.

4. The editor makes a final decision based on editorial priorities, manuscript quality, and reviewer recommendations.

5. The decision letter is sent to the author.

Contact Address

All correspondence should be directed to the Editorial Office: Cinnah Caddesi Pilot Sokak No:10/12 06650 Çankaya / Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 312 441 00 45 Fax: +90 312 441 12 97 E-mail: info@tsnmjournals.org



CONTENTS

MIRT

Original Articles

55 Factors That Impact Evaluation of Left Ventricular Systolic Parameters in Myocardial Perfusion Gated SPECT with 16 Frame and 8 Frame Acquisition Models

16 ve 8 Frame Görüntüleme Modelli Miyokard Perfüzyon Gated SPECT Çalışmasında Sol Ventrikül Sistolik Parametrelerinin Değerlendirilmesini Etkileyen Faktörler

Mojtaba Ansari, Hoda Hashemi, Mehdi Soltanshahi, Mohsen Qutbi, Zahra Azizmohammadi, Faraj Tabeie, Hamid Javadi, Esmail Jafari, Maryam Barekat, Majid Assadi; Tehran, Gorgan, Bushehr, Iran

60 Utility of FDG PET/CT in the Management of Primary Testicular Lymphoma Primer Testis Lenfomasında FDG PET/BT'nin Yararlılığının Değerlendirilmesi

Kürşat Okuyucu, Semra İnce, Engin Alagöz, Erman Ataş, Nuri Arslan; Ankara, Turkey

66 Usefulness of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in Cutaneous Melanoma Patients with Negative Sentinel Lymph Nodes and High Clark Levels

Sentinel Lenf Nodu Negatif Yüksek Clark Seviyeli Kutanöz Melanom Hastalarında ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'nin Değeri Özge Vural Topuz, Fatma Arzu Görtan, Zübeyde Rana Kaya Döner, Çetin Önsel, Haluk Burçak Sayman; İstanbul, Ankara, Kahramanmaraş, Turkey

73 The Contribution of Fluorine ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT to Lung Cancer Diagnosis, Staging and Treatment Planning Flor ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'nin Akciğer Kanseri Tanı, Evreleme ve Tedavi Planlamasına Katkısı Emine Budak, Gürsel Çok, Ayşegül Akgün; İzmir, Turkey

Case Reports

- 81 Laryngeal Tuberculosis Mimicking Laryngeal Carcinoma on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT Imaging ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT Görüntülemede Maligniteyi Taklit Eden Laringeal Tüberküloz Arzu Cengiz, Sibel Göksel, Yeşim Başal, Şule Taş Gülen, Füruzan Döğer, Yakup Yürekli; Aydın, Turkey
- 84 I-131 Radiation-Induced Myelosuppression in Differentiated Thyroid Cancer Therapy Diferansiye Tiroid Kanser Tedavisinde I-131 Radyasyona Bağlı Miyelosüpresyon
 Stephan Probst, Gad Abikhzer, Guillaume Chaussé, Michael Tamilia; Montreal, Canada

Interesting Images

 A Case of Hypertrophic Pulmonary Osteoarthropathy in Both Upper and Lower Extremities: A Rare Involvement
 Üst ve Alt Ekstremitede Hipertrofik Pulmoner Osteoartropati Olgusu: Nadir Bir Görünüm
 Berna Okudan, Nazım Coşkun, Pelin Arıcan, Rıza Şefizade, Seniha Naldöken; Ankara, Turkey

- Disseminated Multi-system Sarcoidosis Mimicking Metastases on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT
 ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'de Metastazı Taklit Eden Dissemine Multisistem Sarkoidoz
 William Makis, Mark Palayew, Christopher Rush, Stephan Probst; Edmonton, Montreal, Canada
- **96** Hypermetabolic Hurthle Cell Adenoma on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'de Hipermetabolik Hurthle Hücreli Adenom Aamna Hassan, Saima Riaz, Amna Asif; Lahore, Pakistan





Factors That Impact Evaluation of Left Ventricular Systolic Parameters in Myocardial Perfusion Gated SPECT with 16 Frame and 8 Frame Acquisition Models

16 ve 8 Frame Görüntüleme Modelli Miyokard Perfüzyon Gated SPECT Çalışmasında Sol Ventrikül Sistolik Parametrelerinin Değerlendirilmesini Etkileyen Faktörler

Mojtaba Ansari¹
 Hoda Hashemi²
 Mehdi Soltanshahi²
 Mohsen Qutbi²
 Zahra Azizmohammadi¹
 Faraj Tabeie²
 Hamid Javadi³
 Esmail Jafari⁴
 Maryam Barekat⁵
 Majid Assadi⁴

¹Department of Nuclear Medicine, Imam Hossein Hospital, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran ²Department of Nuclear Medicine, Taleghani Educational Hospital, School of Medicine, Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran

³Golestan Research Center of Gastroenterology and Hepatology (GRCGH), Golestan University of Medical Sciences (GUOMS), Gorgan, Iran
⁴The Persian Gulf Nuclear Medicine Research Center, Bushehr University of Medical Sciences, Bushehr, Iran
⁵Regenerative Medicine Department, Royan Institute, Tehran, Iran

Abstract

Objective: Evaluating the effects of heart cavity volume, presence and absence of perfusion defect, gender and type of study (stress and rest) on the difference of systolic parameters of myocardial perfusion scan in 16 and 8 framing gated SPECT imaging.

Methods: Cardiac gated SPECT in both 16 and 8 framing simultaneously and both stress and rest phases at one-day protocol was performed for 50 patients. Data have been reconstructed by filter back projection (FBP) method and left ventricular (LV) systolic parameters were calculated by using QGS software. The effect of some factors such as LV cavity volume, presence and absence of perfusion defect, gender and type of study on data difference between 8 and 16 frames were evaluated. **Results:** The differences in ejection fraction (EF), end-diastolic volume (EDV) and end-systolic volume (ESV) in both stress and rest were statistically significant. Difference in both framing was more in stress for EF and ESV, and was more in rest for EDV. Study type had a significant effect on differences in systolic parameters while gender had a significant effect on differences in EF and ESV in rest between both framings.

Conclusion: In conclusion, results of this study revealed that difference of both 16 and 8 frames data in systolic phase were statistically significant and it seems that because of better efficiency of 16 frames, it cannot be replaced by 8 frames. Further well-designed studies are required to verify these findings.

Keywords: Perfusion gated SPECT, 16 frames, 8 frames, systolic parameters

Öz

Amaç: Kalp boşluk hacmi, perfüzyon defekti varlığı veya yokluğu, cinsiyet ve inceleme tipinin (istirahat-stres) 16 ve 8 frame modeli ile gated SPECT görüntülemede miyokard perfüzyon sintigrafisi sistolik parametrelerindeki farklılık üzerindeki etkilerini incelemektir.

Address for Correspondence: Majid Assadi MD, Bushehr University of Medical Sciences, The Persian Gulf Nuclear Medicine Research Center, Bushehr, Iran Phone: +0098-771-2580169 E-mail: assadipoya@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-3862-9472 Received: 17.06.2017 Accepted: 12.12.2017

> [©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.

Öz

Yöntem: Elli hastada eş zamanlı olarak hem 16 hem 8 frame hem stres hem dinlenme fazları ile tek-gün protokolü ile kardiyak gated SPECT uygulandı. Veriler geri filtreleme yansıması (FBP) yöntemi ile rekonstrükte edildi ve QGS yazılımı kullanılarak LV sistolik parametreleri hesaplandı. LV boşluk hacmi, perfüzyon defekti varlığı ya da yokluğu, cinsiyet ve inceleme tipi gibi bazı faktörlerin 16 ve 8 frame modeli ile gated SPECT görüntülemede miyokard perfüzyon sintigrafisi sistolik parametrelerindeki farklılık üzerindeki etkileri incelendi.

Bulgular: EF, EDV ve ESV'de hem stres hem istirahattaki fark istatistik olarak anlamlı idi. Her iki frame ile EF, EDV ve ESV'de artmış fark sırasıyla stres, istirahat ve streste idi. İnceleme türünün sistolik parametreler üzerinde anlamlı etkisi vardı, benzer şekilde cinsiyetin istirahat halinde her iki bölme yöntemi arasında EF ve ESV farkı üzerinde anlamlı etkisi görüldü.

Sonuç: Sonuç olarak, bu çalışma sonuçları hem 16 hem 8 frame ile elde edilen sistolik verinin istatistiksel olarak anlamlı olduğunu ortaya koymaktadır ve 16 frame modelinin daha etkin olması nedeniyle 8 frame ile değiştirilemeyeceğini öne sürmektedir. Bu bulguların ileride iyi planlanmış çalışmalar ile doğrulanması gerekmektedir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Perfüzyon gated SPECT, 16 frame, 8 frame, sistolik parametre

Introduction

Currently, gated SPECT is used for evaluation of left ventricular (LV) systolic and diastolic functions and data are acquired by the electrocardiographic signal using a specific number of interval, from R wave to next R wave (1).

Each image is generated by counts which are accumulated during each of these intervals. Each interval (cardiac cycle) can be divided into several frames. The choice of best framing interval in myocardial perfusion gated SPECT is still an unresolved issue. It is suggested that using 8-frames leads to better count density in each frame while higher framing intervals, like 16-frames, yield more accurate results (2).

It is reported that 8-frame gated SPECT is likely to underestimate the ejection fraction (EF) as compared to other standard modalities like magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) (3,4) or equilibrium radionuclide angiography (ERNA) (5). It was stated that 8-frame gated SPECT generated smaller end-diastolic volume (EDV), larger end-systolic volume (ESV) and lower EF as compared to 16-frame gated SPECT (1,2). In a study, systolic parameters of 8, 16, 32 frames had been compared to results of ERNA. It showed that LVEF in gated SPECT underestimates as compared to ERNA and also this underestimation reduces by increasing the number of frames. This study showed that by increasing the frame, the LVEDV, LVESV, and LVEF were increased, decreased and increased, respectively (5). Vallejo et al. (6) showed that in the presence of perfusion defects, quantitative gated SPECT (QGS) overestimated the volume as compared to MRI as a standard modality.

Total perfusion deficit (TPD) is a parameter showing both the extent and severity of myocardial perfusion abnormality, and it is calculated by QGS (7). Kurisu et al. (8) used TPD as a quantitative parameter of myocardial perfusion for evaluating accuracy of QGS measurements and showed that TPD can impact systolic parameters and results in differences in ESV, EDV and EF. The aims of this study include evaluating the effect of heart cavity volume, presence and size of perfusion defect, gender and type of study (stress and rest) on the differences in systolic parameters in myocardial perfusion scan in 8 and 16 frames gated SPECT imaging.

Materials and Methods

This is a cross-sectional study. The patients were chosen randomly between people admitted for myocardial perfusion SPECT in Nuclear Medicine Department of a referral university affiliated hospital in Iran. The exclusion criteria included patients with severe arrhythmias (more than one ectopic beat in 6 heart cycles) (9), cardiomyopathy, a history of myocardial infarction, and patients in whom the modality is unable to determine their heart range due to abnormalities (10).

After injection of 740 MBq of Tc-MIBI, acquisition for each patient was started after at least 60 minutes of rest and at least 30 minutes after exercise peak or pharmacologic stress.

Gated SPECT, then, was performed in both 8 and 16 frames at the same time for both rest and stress phases with a oneday protocol by using Dual head modality, high-resolution collimator and energy window of 20% for 140 KeV.

Myocardial perfusion SPECT was acquired in 64*64 matrix with 32 projections and 30 seconds for each projection.

Data were reconstructed by using filter back projection and cut off: 0.5. LVEF, LVESV and LVEDV were calculated by QGS software. V2 software was used for image reconstruction with different gating frame (10). Attenuation correction and scatter correction were not used. LVEF, LVESV and LVEDV were obtained automatically (9).

For obtaining quantitative perfusion defect as summed stress score (SSS), summed rest score (SRS) and summed difference score (SDS), polar map was used. SDS \geq 2 and SDS >7 were considered as ischemia and severe ischemia, respectively (10).

LV cavity volume was obtained by ungated images and the mean volume of 8 and 16 frames in both rest and stress, separately, was considered as the heart cavity volume.

In addition, mean EDV of 8 and 16 frames in stress and rest, separately, was used as a criterion for the left ventricle volume.

After completion of sample size, the difference of systolic parameters of the two aforementioned methods and effects of size of the heart cavity, presence and size of perfusion defect, gender and type of study (stress and rest) on data difference were evaluated with SPSS (T test) and Bland-Altman analysis. P-value less than 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

Ethics Committee Approval and Informed Consent

This study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki, and it was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences (registration number: 75/1394-1395) and informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Results

In 56 evaluated patients in this study, 4 patients were excluded due to inability of the modality to find the heart range, 1 patient due to silent MI and 1 patient due to arrhythmia. The study group consisted of 50 patients including 20 males and 30 females. Nine patients underwent stress with exercise test and 41 patients with pharmacologic stress. The mean age was 54.02 years with 11.11 standard deviation (SD) and a range of 30-79 years.

The mean SSS and mean SDS were calculated as 7.1 with 3.02 SD and 4.5 with 2.9 SD, respectively.

The EDV in stress phase was 79.12 ± 30.44 for 16 frames and 78.08 ± 29.67 for 8 frames, while this value in rest phase was determined as 82.40 ± 30.12 for 16 frames and 81.82 ± 29.60 for 8 frames.

The ESV in stress phase was calculated as 27.44±15.29 for 16 frames and 29±16.17 for 8 frames, and as 28.06±15.85 for 16 frames and 30.90±17.18 for 8 frames in rest phase.

The EF in stress phase was identified as 0.67 ± 0.07 for 16 frames and 0.63 ± 0.08 for 8 frames, while the EF in rest phase was 0.66 ± 0.11 for 16 frames and 0.64 ± 0.07 for 8 frames (Table 1).

The Pearson correlation coefficient between 8 and 16 gated framings in stress and rest phase was determined as 0.957 and 0.956, respectively, and in total it was calculated to be 0.852.

EF was higher in both stress and rest phases with both types of framing in females than males, while EDV and ESV were larger in both stress and rest phases with both types of framing in males (Figure 1, 2, 3).

EF difference between these two types of framing was obtained at 95% confidence interval of $3.05\%\pm2.1$ in stress and at 95% confidence interval of $2.92\%\pm1.8$ in rest (Figure 1, 2, 3).

95% confidence interval for difference of EDV between 8 and 16 framing was 1.73 mL \pm 1.12 in stress and 1.98 mL \pm 1.14 in rest. Also, 95% confidence interval for difference of ESV between 8 and 16 framing was -2.34 mL \pm 1.9 in stress and -1.92 mL \pm 1.6 in rest.

In the evaluation of systolic factors between 8 and 16 framings, the difference of LVEF, LVEDV, LVESV in both stress and rest phases were statistically significant (EF: p-value <0.001, ESV: p-value=0.005).

Evaluation of the effects of phase (stress and rest) on the difference of systolic parameters between two types of framing revealed that the effect of this variable on ΔEF



Figure 1. Comparison of ejection fraction between 8 and 16 frames in stress

EF: Ejection fraction

Table 1. Mean values of systolic and diastolic parameters in 8 and 16 frames							
	EF stress	EDV stress	ESV stress	EF rest	EDV rest	ESV rest	
Female (16-frame)	69.9±8	71.9±24	23.5±11	69.4±12	74.3±25	24.1±12	
Female (8-frame)	66.4±8	69.8±23	25.4±12	66.1±10	72.1±24	26.0±13	
Male (16-frame)	63.9±7	96.0±35	35.1±17	63.6±10	99.7±34	35.8±18	
Male (8-frame)	60.4±6	95.1±33	37.1±18	60.2±7	98.2±34	37.8±19	

EF: Ejection fraction, EDV: End-diastolic volume, ESV: End-systolic volume

(p-value=0.036, more difference was seen in stress), Δ EDV (p-value=0.04, more difference was seen in rest) and Δ ESV (p-value=0.04, more difference was seen in stress) was statistically significant.

In evaluating effect of gender on difference in systolic parameters between 8 and 16 frames, the impact of this variable on Δ EF in rest (p-value=0.038) and on Δ ESV in stress (p-value=0.030) between 8 and 16 frames was statistically significant. Mean Δ EF between 8 and 16 frames



Figure 2. Comparison of ejection fraction between 8 and 16 frames in rest *EF: Ejection fraction*



Figure 3. Comparison of ejection fraction between 8 and 16 frames in stress and rest *EF: Ejection fraction*

in rest phase was 3.48% for males and 2.066% for females, and this correlation for Δ ESV was inverse (males<females). Effect of gender on Δ EDV was not statistically significant between 8 and 16 frames in stress (p=0.441) and in rest (p=0.083), and on Δ ESV in stress (p=0.88).

With the unification of volumetric variable between both genders, there was no statistically significant in the difference of systolic parameters in both 8 and 16 frames between males and females.

Evaluation of the effects of (presence and absence of) perfusion defect on difference in systolic parameters between 8 and 16 frames showed that this variable did not have a statistically significant impact in both stress and rest on Δ EDV (stress: p=0.693; rest: p=0.78), Δ EF (stress: p=0.513; rest: p=0.964), Δ ESV (stress: p=0.533; rest: p=0.159).

SSS and SDS had no significant effect on the related variable of systolic parameters between 8 and 16 frames.

The mean LV volume (non-gated) of 8 and 16 frames in stress had significant correlation with Δ ESV in stress (Spearman correlation coefficient: 0.359, p=0.011) and rest (Spearman correlation coefficient: 0.290, p=0.041). Also, mean LV volume (non-gated) of 8 and 16 frames in rest had significant correlation with Δ ESV in stress (Spearman correlation coefficient: 0.337, p=0.017) and rest (Spearman correlation coefficient: 0.333, p=0.018). The mean LV volume (non-gated) of 8 and 16 frames had no significant correlation with Δ EF and Δ EDV in both stress and rest.

The mean LVEDV of 8 and 16 frames in stress showed significant correlation with Δ ESV in stress (Spearman correlation coefficient: 0.336, p=0.017) and rest (Spearman correlation coefficient: 0.324, p=0.022). However, mean LVEDV of 8 and 16 frames did not show a significant correlation with Δ EF and Δ EDV.

In our observation, 4 patients showed EF drop more than 5 percent after stress as compared to rest condition in both 8 and 16 frames imaging.

Discussion

The results of 8 and 16 frames gated imaging in both stress and rest of 50 patients were compared in this study. The difference of EF, EDV and ESV in both stress and rest was statistically significant between 8 and 16 frames. EF in 16 frames was higher than 8 frames in both stress and rest. Δ EF in stress was more than rest in comparison of 16 frames and 8 frames. In both stress and rest, EDV was larger in 16 frames than 8 frames and ESV in 8 frames. Δ EDV in rest and Δ EF and Δ ESV in stress were more in 16 frames as compared to 8 frames.

When gated SPECT was introduced, 8-interval framing has been used as the standard modality (11). Eight frames were chosen because of the need to achieve a high count in each frame for determination of cardiac walls and assessment of regional wall motion without prolonging the acquisition time (12). However, Germano et al. (9) reported that EF was underestimated by using 8 frames as compared to 16 frames, a finding that was confirmed by studies comparing EF obtained by gated SPECT with other reference standards such as ERNA and MRI (5,13,14,15).

EF in females and EDV and ESV in males were higher in both stress and rest and in both types of 8 and 16 frames imaging that is consistent with Trägårdh et al. (16) study. Nevertheless, Moslehi et al. (17) reported that the difference in systolic parameters was only observed in stress EF. Inaccurate estimates of volumes in small hearts might lead to higher EF and smaller ESV and EDV in women (18).

Since 16 frames had been introduced for obtaining diastolic factors, several studies evaluating differences in measurement of systolic factors obtained with 8 and 16 frames have been performed, with contradictory results. Only a few studies assessed the differences related directly to framing in the same patient. Navare et al. (2) have exchanged results of 16 frames to 8 frames and then by using QGS algorithms, they reported that higher LVEDV, smaller LVESV and higher LVEF in 16 frames than 8 frames and suggested to using 16 frames instead of 8 frames. These results are similar to the findings in the present study. Kumita et al. (19) had acquired 32 frames and then at each projection angle, they combined it into 16-frame and 8-frame gated data set. EDV, ESV and EF had been calculated by using QGS algorithms and had been compared with ERNA. Combining the 32-frame data into 16-frame and 8-frame data sets generated a smaller LVEDV and a larger LVESV, and LVEF was significantly lower in accordance with the decreasing number of frames. Compared with ERNA studies, the Bland-Altman method showed underestimated LVEFs and larger 95% limits of agreement in lower framing gated SPECT. Kurisu et al. (1) reported that 8 frames compared to 16 frames underestimates diastolic parameters as well as systolic parameters, and suggested that framing rate should be taken into consideration when interpreting these parameters or comparing data from different studies.

Several methods have been introduced for image reconstruction. Schaefer et al. (20) used QGS and 4D-MSPECT algorithm for comparison of 16 and 8 gated framing in 120 patients and observed smaller difference for EF with domain difference of 7% by using QGS as compared to 17% in 4D-MSPECT. Domain differences of ESV and EDV based on Bland-Altman analysis were 10 mL against 21 mL and 12 mL against 32 mL in QGS as compared to 4D-MSPECT, respectively. In addition, QGS was more accurate in determining heart range.

Montelatici et al. (10) compared 8 and 16 framing, independently, at the same time and reported underestimation of EF and EDV and overestimation of ESV

in 8 frames in both stress and rest. However, the differences were very limited and smaller than that reported in other studies. Also, there was a compliance in both 8 and 16 frames for finding patients with stress-induced EF drop that indicated the lack of the superiority of one method over the other. These results are similar to the results of the present study in the way that Montelatici et al. (10) reported the mean ΔEF of 16 and 8 frames in stress as 2.8% with 95% confidence interval of 2.5-3.2 and in rest as 2.7% with 95% confidence interval of 2.3-3.1. In the present study, mean Δ EF of 16 and 8 frames in stress was calculated as 3.05% with 95% confidence interval of 1-5.1 and in rest as 2.92% with 95% confidence interval of 1.4-1.7. The higher difference in the present study as compared to the aforementioned study may be attributed to the smaller sample size.

Presence or absence of perfusion defect, SSS or SDS had no significant effect on differences of the variables related to systolic parameters between 8 and 16 frames, which are consistent with Montelatici (10) study. But Sciagrà et al. (21) confirmed that there is a significant relationship between infarct size and LV volumes and LVEF. Furthermore, in addition to infarct size, the infarct location influences LVEF and volumes, with lower LVEF values in anterior compared to lateral or inferior infarctions of the same extent, and higher EDV and ESV in anterior compared to inferior or lateral infarctions. Also, this study showed a significant correlation with LV volumes and LVEF. Vallejo et al. (6) reported that QGS overestimated the EDV in the presence and absence of perfusion defect. However, in the presence of a perfusion defect, overestimation was worse. ESV and LVEF were also overestimated in the presence of a perfusion defect.

Study Limitations

The main limitation of the study is the lack of the assessment of clinical impact of the acquired data. In other words, it is possible that the difference between 16 and 8 frames does not have an effect on treatment approach. Another limitation was the lack of comparison with a gold standard test. Finally, it is possible that the observed difference between 16 and 8 frames does not indicate the superiority of one method over the other.

Conclusion

In conclusion, according to our results, although the difference of systolic factors in 16 and 8 gated framings by using the similar protocol were estimated less than previous studies, the difference is still significant. Further studies are required to evaluate the effect of this difference on treatment approach.

Acknowledgements

This study is a postgraduate thesis and was supported by Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences (grant no. 45678). Thanks are extended to the colleagues at our institutes for data gathering.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: This study complies with the Declaration of Helsinki, and it was approved by the Ethics Committee of Shahid Beheshti University of Medical Sciences (registration number: 75/1394-1395).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Peer-review: External and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practice: M.A., M.Q., Z.A., Concept: M.A., M.Q., Z.A., Design: M.A., H.H., M.Q., Z.A., F.T., Data Collection or Processing: M.A., M.Q., M.S., Z.A., F.T., H.J., Literature Search: H.J., E.J., M.B., M.A., Writing: E.J., M.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

- Kurisu S, Sumimoto Y, Ikenaga H, Watanabe N, Ishibashi K, Dohi Y, Fukuda Y, Kihara Y. Comparison of 8-frame and 16-frame thallium-201 gated myocardial perfusion SPECT for determining left ventricular systolic and diastolic parameters. Heart Vessels 2017;32:790-795.
- Navare SM, Wackers FJ, Liu YH. Comparison of 16-frame and 8-frame gated SPET imaging for determination of left ventricular volumes and ejection fraction. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2003;30:1330-1337.
- Persson E, Carlsson M, Palmer J, Pahlm O, Arheden H. Evaluation of left ventricular volumes and ejection fraction by automated gated myocardial SPECT versus cardiovascular magnetic resonance. Clin Physiol Funct Imaging 2005;25:135-141.
- Faber TL, Vansant JP, Pettigrew RI, Galt JR, Blais M, Chatzimavroudis G, Cooke CD, Folks RD, Waldrop SM, Gurtler-Krawczynska E, Wittry MD, Garcia EV. Evaluation of left ventricular endocardial volumes and ejection fractions computed from gated perfusion SPECT with magnetic resonance imaging: comparison of two methods. J Nucl Cardiol 2001;8:645-651.
- Manrique A, Faraggi M, Véra P, Vilain D, Lebtahi R, Cribier A, Le Guludec D. 201T1 and 99mTc-MIBI gated SPECT in patients with large perfusion defects and left ventricular dysfunction: comparison with equilibrium radionuclide angiography. J Nucl Med 1999;40:805-809.
- Vallejo E, Dione DP, Bruni WL, Constable RT, Borek PP, Soares JP, Carr JG, Condos SG, Wackers FJ, Sinusas AJ. Reproducibility and accuracy of gated SPECT for determination of left ventricular volumes and ejection fraction: experimental validation using MRI. J Nucl Med 2000;41:874-882.
- Berman DS, Kang X, Gransar H, Gerlach J, Friedman JD, Hayes SW, Thomson LE, Hachamovitch R, Shaw LJ, Slomka PJ, Yang LD, Germano G. Quantitative assessment of myocardial perfusion abnormality on SPECT myocardial perfusion imaging is more reproducible than expert visual analysis. J Nucl Cardiol 2009;16:45-53.
- Kurisu S, Iwasaki T, Abe N, Tamura M, Ikenaga H, Watanabe N, Higaki T, Shimonaga T, Ishibashi K, Dohi Y, Fukuda Y, Kihara Y. Effects of myocardial perfusion abnormalities on the accuracy of left ventricular

volume and ejection fraction measured by thallium-201 gated singlephoton emission tomography: comparison with echocardiography as the reference standard. Nucl Med Commun 2015;36:1127-1133.

- Germano G, Kiat H, Kavanagh PB, Moriel M, Mazzanti M, Su HT, Van Train KF, Berman DS. Automatic quantification of ejection fraction from gated myocardial perfusion SPECT. J Nucl Med 1995;36:2138-2147.
- Montelatici G, Sciagrà R, Passeri A, Dona M, Pupi A. Is 16-frame really superior to 8-frame gated SPECT for the assessment of left ventricular volumes and ejection fraction? Comparison of two simultaneously acquired gated SPECT studies. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2008;35:2059-2065.
- DePuey EG, Nichols K, Dobrinsky C. Left ventricular ejection fraction assessed from gated technetium-99m-sestamibi SPECT. J Nucl Med 1993;34:1871-1876.
- Hesse B, Tägil K, Cuocolo A, Anagnostopoulos C, Bardiès M, Bax J, Bengel F, Busemann Sokole E, Davies G, Dondi M, Edenbrandt L, Franken P, Kjaer A, Knuuti J, Lassmann M, Ljungberg M, Marcassa C, Marie PY, McKiddie F, O'Connor M, Prvulovich E, Underwood R, van Eck-Smit B; EANM/ESC Group. EANM/ESC procedural guidelines for myocardial perfusion imaging in nuclear cardiology. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2005;32:855-897.
- 13. Stollfuss JC, Haas F, Matsunari I, Neverve J, Nekolla S, Schneider-Eicke J, Schricke U, Ziegler S, Schwaiger M. Regional myocardial wall thickening and global ejection fraction in patients with low angiographic left ventricular ejection fraction assessed by visual and quantitative resting ECG-gated 99m Tc-tetrofosmin single-photon emission tomography and magnetic resonance imaging. Eur J Nucl Med 1998;25:522-530.
- Nichols K, Tamis J, DePuey EG, Mieres J, Malhotra S, Rozanski A. Relationship of gated SPECT ventricular function parameters to angiographic measurements. J Nucl Cardiol 1998;5:295-303.
- Vaduganathan P, He ZX, Vick GW, Mahmarian JJ, Verani MS. Evaluation of left ventricular wall motion, volumes, and ejection fraction by gated myocardial tomography with technetium 99m-labeled tetrofosmin: a comparison with cine magnetic resonance imaging. J Nucl Cardiol 1999;6:3-10.
- Trägårdh E, Ljungberg M, Edenbrandt L, Örndahl E, Johansson L, Gustafsson A, Jonsson C, Hagerman J, Riklund K, Minarik D. Evaluation of inter-departmental variability of ejection fraction and cardiac volumes in myocardial perfusion scintigraphy using simulated data. EJNMMI Phys 2015;2:2.
- 17. Moslehi M, Alidadi S, Assadollahi E, Assadi M. Do ejection fraction and other gated stress rest myocardial perfusion parameters differ by age and gender? Nucl Med Rev Cent East Eur 2015;18:7-12.
- Ababneh AA, Sciacca RR, Kim B, Bergmann SR. Normal limits for left ventricular ejection fraction and volumes estimated with gated myocardial perfusion imaging in patients with normal exercise test results: influence of tracer, gender, and acquisition camera. J Nucl Cardiol 2000;7:661-668.
- Kumita S, Cho K, Nakajo H, Toba M, Uwamori M, Mizumura S, Kumazaki T, Sano J, Sakai S, Munakata K. Assessment of left ventricular diastolic function with electrocardiography-gated myocardial perfusion SPECT: comparison with multigated equilibrium radionuclide angiography. J Nucl Cardiol 2001;8:568-574.
- Schaefer WM, Lipke CS, Standke D, Kühl HP, Nowak B, Kaiser HJ, Koch KC, Buell U. Quantification of left ventricular volumes and ejection fraction from gated 99mTc-MIBI SPECT: MRI validation and comparison of the Emory Cardiac Tool Box with QGS and 4D-MSPECT. J Nucl Med 2005;46:1256-1263.
- Sciagrà R, Imperiale A, Antoniucci D, Migliorini A, Parodi G, Comis G, Pupi A. Relationship of infarct size and severity versus left ventricular ejection fraction and volumes obtained from 99mTc-sestamibi gated single-photon emission computed tomography in patients treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2004;31:969-974.



Utility of FDG PET/CT in the Management of Primary Testicular Lymphoma

Primer Testis Lenfomasında FDG PET/BT'nin Yararlılığının Değerlendirilmesi

● Kürşat Okuyucu[†], ● Semra İnce[†], ● Engin Alagöz[†], ● Erman Ataş², ● Nuri Arslan[†]

¹University of Health Sciences, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey ²University of Health Sciences, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Pediatric Oncology, Ankara, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Primary testicular lymphoma (PTL) is a form of extra-nodal lymphoma originating from the testicles. Currently, positron emission tomography (PET) with glucose analogue 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose (18F-FDG) is the most popular and widely used modality for evaluating tumor metabolism, and PTL usually displays increased 18F-FDG uptake. Despite the rapid increase in clinical applications of FDG PET/ computed tomography (CT), its role in PTL has neither been clearly defined nor reviewed systematically. This study reviews the usefulness and limitation of FDG PET/CT in the diagnosis and treatment of PTL. **Methods:** This study included 12 patients with PTL between 2004 and 2015. We retrospectively examined PET/CT results along with patient outcome. The maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}) was calculated.

Results: The mean overall survival (OS) and disease-free survival (DFS) was 44.5 months and 35.5 months, respectively. The mean SUV_{max} was identified as 18.5 in recurrent/metastatic group. The 1-year and 3-year OS was 94% and 69%, while the 1-year and 2-year DFS was 93.5% and 56%, respectively.

Conclusion: FDG PET/CT is very helpful in both staging and evaluating treatment response. Although it is not a perfect tool in the initial diagnosis, it might aid in the differential diagnosis of challenging testicular tumors. Pre-treatment and post-treatment FDG uptake values may also have a prognostic value in patients with PTL.

Keywords: Primary testicular lymphoma, SUVmax, FDG PET/CT

Öz

Amaç: Primer testis lenfoması (PTL) testis kaynaklı bir ekstranodal lenfomadır. ¹⁸F-florodeoksiglukoz (¹⁸F-FDG) pozitron emisyon tomografisi/bilgisayarlı tomografi (PET/BT) tümör metabolizmasını değerlendirmede yaygın olarak kullanılmaktadır ve PTL yüksek FDG tutulumu gösterir. FDG PET/BT'nin klinik uygulamalarının gün geçtikçe artmasına rağmen, PTL'deki rolü tam olarak tanımlanmamış ve sistematize edilmemiştir. Bu çalışma FDG PET/BT'nin PTL tanı ve tedavisindeki yararlılık ve kısıtlamalarını araştırmaktadır.

Yöntem: Çalışma 2004-2015 yılları arasında 12 PTL hastasını içermektedir. Olguların geriye dönük olarak FDG PET/BT sonuçları ve gidişatları incelenmiştir. Maksimum standart tutulum değeri (SUV_{maks}) hesaplandı.

Bulgular: Ortalama toplam sağkalım (OS) ve hastalıksız sağkalım (DFS) sırasıyla 44,5 ay ve 35,5 ay idi. Ortalama SUV_{maks} rekürrent/metastatik grupta 18,5 idi. OS 1. yılda %94, 3. yılda %69; DFS 1. yılda %93,5, 2. yılda %56 idi.

Sonuç: FDG PET/BT evreleme ve tedaviye yanıt takibinde çok faydalıdır. Testis tümörlerinin ayırıcı tanısının zor olduğu olgularda yararlı olabilir. Fakat ilk tanıda iyi bir yöntem değildir. Tedavi öncesi veya sonrası FDG tutulum değerleri prognostik bir önem taşıyabilir.

Anahtar kelimeler: Primer testis lenfoması, SUV_{maks}, FDG PET/BT

Address for Correspondence: Kürşat Okuyucu MD, University of Health Sciences, Gülhane Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 312 304 48 08 E-mail: k.okuyucu@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4481-9531 Received: 20.07.2017 Accepted: 13.12.2017

> ©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.

Introduction

Primary testicular lymphoma (PTL) is a form of extra-nodal lymphoma originating from the testicles (1). PTL constitutes approximately 1-2% of all non-Hodgkin lymphomas (NHL) and accounts for 1-9% of all testicular tumors (2). Most patients are older than 60 years of age, with PTL being the most frequent testicular neoplasm in this age group (3). Approximately 80-98% of PTLs are diffuse large B-cell lymphomas (DLBCL) (4,5). The typical initial symptom is a firm, painless testicular mass with an average tumor size of 6 cm (5). Synchronous bilateral involvement occurs in 6-10% while systemic disease is present in 20-30% of the patients (6). The median overall survival (OS) of PTL is reported to be 4-5 years (7). The most common metastatic sites are contralateral testicle, central nervous system (CNS), skin, adrenal glands, bone marrow, lung and pleura (8).

modalities Diagnostic imaging include ultrasound and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), which allow simultaneous evaluation of both testicles, paratesticular space and spermatic cord (9). When PTL is suspected, inguinal orchiectomy is required for achievement of successful treatment and establishment of correct histopathologic diagnosis with adequate pathologic specimen. An experienced pathologist is required for difficult cases, since distinguishing some cases from seminoma can be challenging (10). In meta-analysis studies, 60-79% of the patients have stage I/II disease at initial presentation (11). Recommended staging is the same as in other forms of aggressive NHL by positron emission tomography/ computed tomography (FDG PET/CT) and bone marrow biopsy, with the addition of specific CNS staging with lumbar puncture for cerebrospinal fluid analysis and cranial MRI (12). The most frequent metastatic location is CNS with a reported incidence of approximately 45% (13). 64% of CNS relapses involve the brain parenchyma (11).

Currently, PET with glucose analogue ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) is the most popular and widely used modality for evaluating tumor metabolism, and PTL usually displays increased ¹⁸F-FDG uptake (14). Despite the rapid increase in clinical applications of FDG PET/CT, its role in PTL has neither been clearly defined nor reviewed systematically. This study reviews the usefulness and limitation of FDG PET/CT in the diagnosis and treatment of PTL.

Materials and Methods

This is a retrospective cohort study conducted with 12 PTL patients of DLBC variant treated by surgery (orchiectomy) and R-CHOP (rituximab, cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, prednisolone) between 2004 and 2015 at our institution. Patients with histopathologically confirmed PTL, who have been treated with R-CHOP protocol and had a follow-up of at least two years, with an initial staging or follow-up FDG PET/CT were included. Patients with

systemic involvement at initial presentation and who received alternative therapy regimens other than R-CHOP as first line therapy protocol were excluded from the study.

FDG PET/CT was obtained for primary staging in 8 cases and for evaluation of treatment response in 4 cases. Baseline staging, re-staging or follow-up PET results and patient outcome were retrospectively extracted from patient files. The patients having pathologically increased FDG uptake on baseline or follow-up FDG PET/ CT constituted recurrent/metastatic group. The semiquantitative parameter of maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}) was calculated on FDG PET/CT. OS was accepted as the time from initial diagnosis to death of any cause or last follow-up. Disease-free survival (DFS) was defined as the period from diagnosis to detection of first relapse or last follow-up.

Ethics Committee Approval and Informed Consent

The study was approved by Gülhane Training and Research Hospital Institutional Ethics Committee (protocol number: 14044, date: 2014). Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

FDG PET/CT Imaging Protocol

Patients fasted for at least 6 hours and their blood glucose level were below 150 mg/dL before the injection of an activity of 370-555 MBg of ¹⁸F-FDG calculated according to the patient's bodyweight. Images were acquired one hour later with an integrated PET/CT scanner (Discovery 690-GE Healthcare). Unenhanced low dose CT and PET emission data were performed from mid-thigh to the vertex of the skull in the supine position with the arms raised above the head. CT data was obtained by an automated dose modulation of 120 kVp (maximal 100 mA), a collimation of 64×0.625 mm, a measured field of view (FOV) of 50 cm, and a noise index of 20%. These data were reconstructed to images of 0.625 mm transverse pixel size and 3.75 mm slice-thickness. PET data was in 3D mode with a scan duration of 2 min per bed position and an axial FOV of 153 mm. A standard technique (random, scatter and attenuation) and an iterative reconstruction (matrix size 256×256, Fourier rebinning, VUE Point FX [3D] with 3 iterations, 18 subsets) corrected the emission data.

Visual and Quantitative Assessment of FDG PET/CT

A standard protocol on a dedicated workstation (Volumetrix for PET/CT and AW volume share 4.5, GE Healthcare, Waukesha, WI, USA) calculated the semiquantitative PET/ CT parameters used in the study. The SUV_{max} corrected for body weight was computed with standard methods from the activity of the highest density voxel in three-dimensional tumor region of transaxial whole body images on attenuation-corrected PET/CT images. The corresponding CT scan of lesions were demarcated as a frame if the boundaries of an uptake were difficult to define for the calculation of SUV_{max}.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed by IBM Corp. Released 2013 (IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, Version 22.0. Armonk, NY: IBM Corp.) number and percentage values were used for the description of categorical data; mean, median, standard deviation (SD), minimum (min) and maximum (max) values were used for the description of continuous data. ROC curve was drawn to evaluate the diagnostic accuracy of SUV_{max} and a cut-off level was determined. Sensitivity and specificity rates were calculated according to the chosen cut-off value. Kaplan-Meier test was used for survival analysis.

Results

The mean patient age was 57 ± 15 years (21-77) and the mean SUV_{max} value was 18.5 ± 7 (9.8-30.8). Mean OS and DFS were identified as 44.5 months (12-101) and 35.5 months (9-101), respectively. Mean SUV_{max} was 15.9 in the recurrent/metastatic group. Complete remission was achieved in 5/12 of the cases (42%). On the other hand, 7/12 (58%) developed recurrence and/or metastasis during follow-up 5 (42%) of which died. Median time to progression was 18.6 months. OS at the 1st year was 94%, 87.5% at the 2nd, 69% at the 3rd, and 62.5% at the 5th years. DFS at the first year was 93.5%, 56% at the second year, and 44% at the 3rd year.

There was a statistically significant difference between recurrent/metastatic group and non-metastatic (complete remission) group according to SUV_{max} values (p<0.001). ROC curve was drawn to evaluate the diagnostic value of SUV_{max} (Figure 1). Cut-off value of SUV_{max} , its associated sensitivity and specificity rates are demonstrated in Table 1.



Figure 1. ROC curve represents the diagnostic accuracy of SUV_{max}

Kaplan-Meier method was used to compare DFS and OS of recurrent/metastatic and non-metastatic groups, and curves were plotted for OS (Figure 2) and DFS (Figure 3).

Table 1. Cut-off value of SUV_{max} , its associated sensitivity and specificity are demonstrated

Cut-off value	Sensitivity	Specificity	Area under
	(%)	(%)	curve
11.4	89	100	0.99 (p=0.001)

SUV_{max}: Maximum standardized uptake value



Figure 2. Kaplan-Meier curve shows the plot associated with overall survival



Figure 3. A Kaplan-Meier curve indicates disease-free survival in patients with primary testicular lymphoma

Discussion

The mean age of our patient population was 57 years, which is lower than the mean age reported in the literature. The mean tumor size was 6.5 cm and the mean SUV_{max} was 18,5, which were both in line with previous studies. Local recurrence was detected in 60% of the cases and bilateral involvement was present in 16%. Nearly 50% of the tumors metastasized to CNS, and CNS metastasis and/ or testicular recurrence was the cause of death in all our cases. All these findings including median OS, median time to progression and other prognostic data presented herein are in accordance with the literature.

Early diagnosis of PTL is essential for timely treatment before the occurrence of widespread metastases and invasion of neighboring tissues. Clinical diagnosis of PTL is sometimes difficult and delayed due to its nonspecific symptoms. FDG PET/CT has a limited value in the initial diagnosis and differentiation of PTL from other malignant testicular tumors or non-malignant lesions. PTL is a highly cellular tumor and shows increased glucose metabolism, causing homogenous marked asymmetric testicular FDG uptake (14). The semi-quantitative FDG uptake values measured by SUV_{max} were reported to be between 10 and 30 for PTL (14). This value is higher than the average SUV_{max} of the normal testicle that has been reported as approximately 2.5 in large case series (14). PTL may be distinguished from other testicular diseases such as seminoma according to its uptake pattern and SUV_{max} value. However, FDG PET/CT is not a perfect tool in the diagnosis of PTL.

Detection of PTL with extra-testicular involvement at primary (baseline) staging is important for appropriate therapy since systemic involvement alternates therapy protocol. Standard baseline (initial) staging for PTL includes MRI and sometimes bone marrow biopsy to exclude systemic lymphoma (13). Conventional initial staging in PTL might not show extra-testicular lesions, especially occult systemic lymphoma in some patients. FDG PET/CT is more sensitive than conventional staging methods in this regard and may disclose higher rates of concomitant systemic disease at initial diagnosis. The supremacy of this modality is attributed to the ability to screen the whole-body, and the fusion of anatomic detail provided by the CT component with metabolic information. This advantage remains true also for re-staging during follow-up. The clinical significance of identifying recurrence and/or metastasis at the follow-up is apparent. Currently, FDG PET/CT is the choice of imaging modality for primary staging and re-staging. In our study, we also observed that FDG PET/CT is an excellent tool in disease-staging both initially and during follow-up.

PTL is one of the most malignant testicular tumors that respond well to treatment. Changes in metabolic imaging with FDG PET/CT can be detected soon after initiation of therapy. Early evaluation of the initial treatment response is very important, since salvage treatment may improve outcome. Follow-up (evaluation of treatment response) FDG PET/CT fulfills this easily with its unique advantages over conventional techniques. The whole body can be assessed in one session prior to anatomic changes and active foci can be distinguished from fibrotic or inflammatory tissue as well as detection of small lesions located outside areas imaged by conventional techniques. Dramatic disappearance of increased FDG uptake in the tumor with therapy indicates treatment success.

Kawai et al. (15) demonstrated that FDG PET 3 weeks after the first chemotherapy showed a significant decrease in FDG uptake of the tumor as compared to pre-treatment uptake. The reduction in FDG uptake significantly correlated with the decrease in tumor size as detected by follow-up MRI (15). These results indicate that metabolic imaging with FDG PET can accurately evaluate treatment response at an early stage, sometimes preceding changes on MRI. Early therapeutic monitoring might have an impact on deciding whether the treatment regimen should be maintained or changed. If patients with a poor early response were identified, treatment could be modified at an early stage before delivering additional cycles of ineffective therapy. In our study, we detected that follow-up FDG PET provided valuable information for treatment evaluation.

The 5-year survival rate is reported as 35% with a mean survival of 13 months for patients with PTL (16). The 5-year survival rate was identified as 53% in our study, with a mean survival of 18 months. Early quantitative measurement of metabolic response with FDG PET was declared to provide valuable prognostic information in systemic aggressive lymphoma types (15). FDG PET/CT might also provide prognostic information in patients still under therapy and predict long-term outcome in PTL. The OS of patients with low to moderate FDG uptake was reported to be significantly longer than that of patients with high FDG uptake (17). PTL with high FDG uptake tended to exhibit poor treatment response as compared to that with low to moderate uptake (18). This prognostic information yielded by FDG PET over SUV_{max} values was very accentuated in our study. The SUV_{max} of the recurrent/metastatic group was significantly high (p<0.001) and it was a strong predictor of outcome. To the best of our knowledge, although there are no published studies on this issue in the literature, FDG uptake value might represent tumor aggressiveness in PTL. Further clinical trials are required to define the optimal strategy to utilize FDG PET information as a prognosticator and to improve outcome in patients with PTL.

Conclusion

The utility of FDG PET/CT is currently increasing in the management of PTL. This review summarizes the usefulness and limitations of FDG PET/CT in the diagnosis and treatment of PTL. FDG PET/CT is valuable in both primary staging and restaging. It is also valuable in evaluating

treatment response after initial chemotherapy and altering treatment strategy at a very early stage, if required. Preand post-treatment FDG uptake values reflected by SUV_{max} might have a prognostic value in patients with PTL. FDG PET/CT might be useful for differential diagnosis of challenging testicular tumors. Nevertheless, it is not the proper modality for initial diagnosis.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study was approved by Gülhane Training and Research Hospital Institutional Ethics Committee (protocol number: 14044, date: 2014).

Informed Consent: Informed consent was obtained from all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A., Concept: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A., Design: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A., Data Collection or Processing: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A., Analysis or Interpretation: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A., Literature Search: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A., Writing: K.O., S.İ., E.A., E.A., N.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

- 1. Cakiroglu B, Eyyupoglu SE, Dogan AN, Noseri U, Aksoy SH, Ozturk AB. Primary testicular lymphoma: Two case reports and review of the literature. Arch Ital Urol Androl 2016;87:332-334.
- Shahab N, Doll DC. Testicular lymphoma. Semin Oncol 1999;26:259-269.
- Kim J, Yoon DH, Park I, Kim S, Park JS, Lee SW, Huh J, Park CS, Suh C. Treatment of primary testicular diffuse large B cell lymphoma without prophylactic intrathecal chemotherapy: a single center experience. Blood Res 2014;49:170-176.
- Park BB, Kim JG, Sohn SK, Kang HJ, Lee SS, Eom HS, Kwon HC, Oh SY, Kang JH, Oh SJ, Shin HJ, Suh C, Kim JH, Kim HY, Kim K, Ryoo BY, Kim WS. Consideration of aggressive therapeutic strategies for primary testicular lymphoma. Am J Hematol 2007;82:840-845.
- Cheah CY, Wirth A, Seymour JF. Primary testicular lymphoma. Blood 2014;123:486-493.

- 6. Horne MJ, Adeniran AJ. Primary diffuse large B-cell lymphoma of the testis. Arch Pathol Lab Med 2011;135:1363-1367.
- Jia B, Shi Y, Dong M, Feng F, Yang S, Lin H, Zhou L, Zhou S, Chen S, Yang J, Liu P, Qin Y, Zhang C, Gui L, Wang L, Wang X, He X. Clinical features, survival and prognostic factors of primary testicular diffuse large B-celllymphoma. Chin J Cancer Res 2014;26:459-465.
- Lokesh KN, Sathyanarayanan V, Kuntegowdanahalli CL, Suresh TM, Dasappa L, Kanakasetty GB. Primary Diffuse large B-Cell lymphoma of testis: A single centre experience and review of literature. Urol Ann 2014;6:231-234.
- Srisuwan T, Muttarak M, Kitirattrakarn P, Ya-in C. Clinics in diagnostic imaging (134). Testicular lymphoma. Singapore Med J 2011;52:204-208.
- Ponti G, Ponzoni M, Ferreri AJ, Foppoli M, Mazzucchelli L, Zucca E. The impact of histopathologic diagnosis on the proper management of testis neoplasms. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 2008;5:619-622.
- 11. Zucca E, Conconi A, Mughal TI, Sarris AH, Seymour JF, Vitolo U, Klasa R, Ozsahin M, Mead GM, Gianni MA, Cortelazzo S, Ferreri AJ, Ambrosetti A, Martelli M, Thiéblemont C, Moreno HG, Pinotti G, Martinelli G, Mozzana R, Grisanti S, Provencio M, Balzarotti M, Laveder F, Oltean G, Callea V, Roy P, Cavalli F, Gospodarowicz MK; International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group. Patterns of outcome and prognostic factors in primary large-cell lymphoma of the testis in a survey by the International Extranodal Lymphoma Study Group. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:20-27.
- 12. Benevolo G, Stacchini A, Spina M, Ferreri AJ, Arras M, Bellio L, Botto B, Bulian P, Cantonetti M, Depaoli L, Di Renzo N, Di Rocco A, Evangelista A, Franceschetti S, Godio L, Mannelli F, Pavone V, Pioltelli P, Vitolo U, Pogliani EM; Fondazione Italiana Linfomi. Final results of a multicenter trial addressing role of CSF flow cytometric analysis in NHL patients at high risk for CNS dissemination. Blood 2012;120:3222-3228.
- 13. Lote K, Holte H, Kvaloy S. Testicular lymphoma is associated with a high risk of extranodal recurrence. Cancer 2000;89:713-714.
- Kitajima K, Nakamoto Y, Senda M, Onishi Y, Okizuka H, Sugimura K. Normal uptake of F18-FDG in the testis: an assessment by PET/CT. Ann Nucl Med 2007;21:405-410.
- Kawai N, Zhen HN, Miyake K, Yamamaoto Y, Nishiyama Y, Tamiya T. Prognostic value of pretreatment 18F-FDG PET in patients with primary central nervous system lymphoma: SUV-based assessment. J Neurooncol 2010;100:225-232.
- 16. Scotti SD, Laudadio J. Testicular relapse of non-Hodgkin Lymphoma noted on FDG-PET. J Radiol Case Rep 2009;3:18-24.
- 17. Lin C, Itti E, Haioun C, Petegnief Y, Luciani A, Dupuis J, Paone G, Talbot JN, Rahmouni A, Meignan M. Early 18F-FDG PET for prediction of prognosis in patients with diffuse large B-cell lymphoma: SUV-based assessment versus visual analysis. J Nucl Med 2007;48:1626-1632.
- Vamsy M, Dattatreya P, Parakh M, Dayal M, Rao VP. F18 FDG positron emission tomography revelation of primary testicular lymphoma with concurrent multiple extra nodal involvement. Indian J Nucl Med 2013;28:36-38.



Usefulness of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in Cutaneous Melanoma Patients with Negative Sentinel Lymph Nodes and High Clark Levels

Sentinel Lenf Nodu Negatif Yüksek Clark Seviyeli Kutanöz Melanom Hastalarında ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'nin Değeri

© Özge Vural Topuz[↑], © Fatma Arzu Görtan², © Zübeyde Rana Kaya Döner³, © Çetin Önsel⁴, © Haluk Burçak Sayman⁴

¹University of Health Sciences, Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

²University of Health Sciences, Ankara Atatürk Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

³Kahramanmaraş Necip Fazıl City Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Kahramanmaraş, Turkey

⁴İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: We investigated the utility of PET/CT in cutaneous melanoma (CM) patients with pathological negative sentinel lymph nodes (SLN), within the first year.

Methods: The results of PET/CTs and SLN biopsy (SLNB) in 65 patients (39 male and 26 female, mean age 53.8) with a PET/CT in the first postoperative year were evaluated. Within this cohort, the utility of early PET/CT imaging was assessed in patients with negative SLNB. McNemar test was used to compare PET/CT findings with SLNB results.

Results: Out of 43 patients with pathologically positive SLNs, 23 patients (53.5%) had positive and 20 patients (46.5%) had negative findings on PET/CT within the first postoperative year. On the other hand, PET/CT results of 22 patients with negative SLNBs were found to be negative in 19 patients (86.4%) and positive in 3 patients (13.6%). For the patients with negative SLNB results, the detection rate of distant metastasis with PET/CT was significantly lower (p<0.001) than that in patients with positive SLNBs.

Conclusion: Our results showed that ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT will most likely (86.4%) be negative during the first postoperative year in patients with a negative SLNB. Therefore, it is concluded that this modality would not provide any significant clinical contribution within this time frame.

Keywords: 18F-FDG, melanoma, sentinel lymph node biopsy

Öz

Amaç: Çalışmamızda sentinel lenf nodu (SLN) patoloji sonucu negatif olan malign melanom (MM) tanılı hastalarda PET/BT'nin ilk bir yıl içerisindeki yararını araştırdık.

Yöntem: Ameliyat sonrası ilk bir sene içerisinde PET/BT çekimi yapılan 65 hastanın (39 erkek; 26 kadın, yaş ortalaması: 53,8) PET/BT çekimleri ve SLN biyopsi sonuçları değerlendirildi. Bunların içerisinden SLN biyopsi sonucu negatif olan hastalarda erken dönemde PET/BT görüntülemenin gerekliliği araştırıldı. McNemar testi, pozitif veya negatif PET/BT sonuçlarını pozitif ve negatif SLNB sonuçları ile karşılaştırmak için kullanıldı.

Bulgular: SLNB sonuçları pozitif olan 43 hastanın postoperatif 1. yılda yapılan PET/BT çekimlerinin sonuçları 23 hastada (%53,5) pozitif, 20 hastada (%46,5) ise negatif olarak bulundu. Diğer taraftan SLN biyopsi sonucu negatif olan 22 hastanın

Address for Correspondence: Özge Vural Topuz MD, University of Health Sciences, Okmeydanı Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, İstanbul, Turkey Phone: +90 532 384 51 90 E-mail: ozgevural81@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-7197-5866 Received: 23.04.2017 Accepted: 06.03.2018

> [©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.

Öz

postoperatif 1. yılda yapılan PET/BT çekimlerinin sonuçları 19 hastada (%86,4) negatif, 3 hastada (%13,6) ise pozitif olarak bulundu. SLN biyopsi sonucu negatif olan hastalar için postoperatif 1. yılda yapılan PET/BT ile uzak metastaz saptanma oranı SLN biyopsi sonucu pozitif olan hastalardan anlamlı olarak daha düşük (p<0,001) bulundu.

Sonuç: Çalışmamızda, SLN biyopsi sonucu negatif olan hastalarda postoperatif ilk bir yılda yapılan ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT çekimlerinin sonuçlarının büyük bir olasılıkla (olguların %86,4'ünde) negatif olması nedeniyle bu hasta grubunda bu periyotta yapılan ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT çekimlerinin önemli bir klinik katkı sağlamayacakları sonucuna varılmıştır.

Anahtar kelimeler: ¹⁸F-FDG, melanom, sentinel lenf nodu biyopsisi

Introduction

PET/CT is introduced as an important scintigraphic imaging method for both the diagnosis and restaging of maligant diseases as well as the evaluation of treatment outcomes. Although it is a valuable method, it is a costly procedure with considerable radiation exposure to tissues. That is why, it might be feasible to avoid PET/CT scanning in unnecessary conditions in terms of overall patient health.

The use of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT for both staging and followup of patients with cutaneous melanoma (CM), which is a disease that threatens life and spreads easily with lymphatic metastases, has been previously reviewed by clinicians (1,2,3,4).

Sentinel lymph node (SLN) biopsy (SLNB) has an important role in disease staging of these patients. Although PET/ CT has been proven to be useful in the staging of CM, it should only be used in patients when truly indicated. The utility of PET/CT to detect systemic recurrences during follow-up has yet to be investigated. SLNB results might have clues to determine the exact timing of this examination.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the necessity and utility of PET/CT imaging that was performed within the first year in patients with a diagnosis of CM, whose SLN(s) have previously been biopsied by either blue dye injection or lymphoscintigraphy and had negative results for metastasis.

Materials and Methods

Between January 2005 and December 2010, the results of 425 PET/CT examinations of 360 patients, who have been diagnosed histopathologically as CM and referred to our department for restaging by PET/CT imaging, were evaluated retrospectively. Within 360 patients, 96 patients who had postoperative pathology results of their SLNBs were included in the study. Patients had been selected for SLNB according to NCCN guidelines.

Accordingly, patients with melanoma greater than 1 mm in depth along with those between 0.76 mm and 1.0 mm in thickness had been considered for SLND if they had positive deep margins, lymphovascular invasion, age less than 40 years, significant vertical growth phase, increased mitotic rate, and Clark's level IV or higher (5).

In order to reach the maximum number of examinations possible within the same interval, only the results of 65 patient's [39 male and 26 female, mean age=53.8 (minimum=27; maximum=85)] PET/CT studies that have been performed in the first postoperative year were evaluated as well as their SLNB pathology results.

Within this cohort, 22 patients with negative SLNB results were determined and the utility of early PET/CT imaging in this subgroup was further evaluated.

The lesions were located mostly at the feet (n=14), back (n=9) and arms (n=7). The rest of the lesions were found on sites such as the scalp, ears, cheeks, abdomen, legs and hands in decreasing order. According to histopathologic subtypes, most patients were diagnosed with superficial spreading type of CM followed by nodular and acrolentiginous types in decreasing frequency (Table 1).

The Breslow thickness of the detected lesions varied between 0.6-17.0 mm. Thus, the Clarks levels were between 3 and 5.

PET/CTs were performed at our department by a highresolution PET scanner (Siemens Biograph LSO HI-RES PET/ CT, Illinois, USA) integrated 6 section multidetectors (for attenuation correction and location).

The patients fasted for at least 4 hours and their finger-tip blood glucose levels were under 150 ng/mL. They rested to obtain complete biodistribution of ¹⁸F-FDG in the body for about 1 hour after an intravenous injection of 13-15 mCi of ¹⁸F-FDG. After micturition they were taken into the imaging suite and were laid on the scanner bed in the supine position.

Following a low-dose CT scan without iv. radiological contrast agent injection PET scanning was performed, covering all areas of the body. Then, CT and PET data were reconstructed by iterative methods after performing attenuation correction for PET images by using tissue attenuation map derived from corresponding CT data. Fusion images of PET and CT at three spatial planes (axial, coronal, and sagittal) approximately 0.5 cm in thickness cross-sectional images as well as maximum intensity projection (MIP) images were displayed and evaluated by an

39

F

38

Hand

Table 1.	le 1. Patient characteristics			Table 1. Continued					
Patient	Sex	Age	Location of primary tumor	Histopathology	Patient	Sex	Age	Location of primary tumor	Histopathology
1	Μ	72	Back	Malignant melanoma	40	F	57	Foot	Malignant melanoma
2	F	77	Arm	Malignant melanoma	41	Μ	54	Foot	Malignant melanoma
3	Μ	39	Knee	Verrucous melanoma	42	F	68	Foot	Malignant melanoma
4	F	60	Abdomen	Malignant melanoma	43	F	42	Arm	Malignant melanoma
5	Μ	57	Ear	Superficial spreading	44	F	46	Scalp	Malignant melanoma
6	F	57	Thigh	Malignant melanoma	45	Μ	68	Arm	Malignant melanoma
7	F	73	Cheek	Desmoplastic	46	Μ	33	Abdomen	Malignant melanoma
8	Μ	40	Abdomen	Malignant melanoma	47	Μ	42	Foot	Malignant melanoma
9	Μ	68	Foot	Acral lentiginous	48	Μ	55	Thorax	Nodular melanoma
10	Μ	51	Arm	Malignant melanoma	49	F	64	Back	Malignant melanoma
11	F	40	Scalp	Nodular melanoma	50	Μ	69	Foot	Nodular melanoma
12	Μ	34	Back	Superficial spreading	51	Μ	69	Foot	Subungual
13	Μ	52	Thigh	Malignant melanoma	52	F	34	Thigh	Nevoid mm
14	Μ	54	Arm	Nodular melanoma	53	F	65	Hand	Malignant melanoma
15	Μ	40	Waist	Malignant melanoma	54	Μ	75	Heel	Acral lentiginous
16	Μ	41	Scalp	Malignant melanoma	55	F	52	Scalp	Malignant melanoma
17	Μ	71	Arm	Nodular melanoma	56	Μ	67	Ear	Nodular melanoma
18	F	33	Abdomen	Malignant melanoma	57	Μ	67	Foot	Acral lentiginous
19	F	26	Hand	Malignant melanoma	58	Μ	62	Foot	Malignant melanoma
20	F	69	Thigh	Malignant melanoma	59	F	59	Foot	Superficial spreading
21	Μ	58	Back	Malignant melanoma	60	F	43	Hand	Malignant melanoma
22	Μ	63	Abdomen	Malignant melanoma	61	F	42	Back	Superficial spreading
23	F	35	Back	Superficial spreading	62	Μ	54	Hand	Acral lentiginous
24	Μ	53	Back	Superficial spreading	63	F	31	Thigh	Malignant melanoma
25	Μ	79	Foot	Acral lentiginous	64	Μ	54	Arm	Nodular melanoma
26	Μ	64	Scalp	Malignant melanoma	65	F	39	Abdomen	Malignant melanoma
27	Μ	69	Foot	Acral lentiginous	M: Male,	F: Female			
28	Μ	74	Inguinal	Superficial spreading					
29	Μ	37	Hand	Malignant melanoma	experie	nced nu	uclear	medicine speciali	st on a high-resolutio
30	F	36	Arm	Malignant melanoma	attenua	tion co	prrectio	on were interpre	eted by the examine
31	F	47	Abdomen	Superficial spreading	In the	interp	retatic	on, excluding th	ne physiological FD
32	Μ	54	Foot	Superficial spreading	uptake,	the fo	oci sha	owing more interview	ensive involvement a
33	Μ	46	Arm	Superficial spreading	evaluate	ed as i	metast	asis and the re-	sult was expressed a
34	Μ	85	Back	Superficial spreading	a positi	ve PET	/CT fi	nding. In additio	n, a semi-quantitativ
35	Μ	76	Back	Malignant melanoma	parame	ter ind	icating	the rate betwee	en the average activit
36	Μ	68	Waist	Malignant melanoma	in the b "maxim	ody an um sta	nd inte ndard	nsity of activity ii uptake value (SI	1 the selected area i.e
37	Μ	27	Scalp	Malignant melanoma	for path	ologica	al upta	ake evaluation.	
38	Μ	40	Back	Malignant melanoma	Preoper	ative ly	mpho	scintigraphy by in	tracutaneous injectio

Preoperative lymphoscintigraphy by intracutaneous injection of 0.5 mCi Tc-99m-labelled albumin nano-colloids around the tumor or the tumor's excision scar was combined with

Malignant melanoma

the intraoperative use of a hand-held gamma probe and patent blue dye mapping technique in order to identify and harvest the SLN.

Statistical Analysis

McNemar test was used in order to compare the positive or negative PET/CT results of the study group with the positive and negative results of their SLNBs. Statistical results were expressed as percent and frequency. Any "p" value less than 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

Ethics Committee Approval and Informed Consent

This study was approved by the İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Medical Faculty Ethics Committee (date: 12 July 2010, file number: 20697) and signed written informed consent was obtained from all research subjects.

Results

Study patients were divided into 7 groups according to the time interval between the surgery of the primary lesion and the initial PET/CT (Table 2). Some patients in these groups had more than one PET/CT scans during their course of follow-up.

In the first postoperative year, PET/CT results were positive in 26 (40%) and negative in 39 (60%). Of the same patients, SLNB results were positive in 43 (66.2%) and negative in 22 (33.8%) (Table 3).

Within the first postoperative year, PET/CT results of 43 patients with a positive SLNB were found to be also positive in 23 patients (53.5%) (Figure 1A, 1B) and negative in 20 patients (46.5%). On the other hand, PET/CT results of 22 patients with a negative SLNB were found to be also negative in 19 patients (86.4%) and positive in 3 patients (13.6%). One of the three patients with a negative SLNB and positive PET/CT finding was a 47-year-old female patient with superficial spreading melanoma localized in the abdomen, the tumor being Clark level III with a thickness of 0.6 mm without ulceration. The second was a 76-year-old male patient with malignant melanoma of the back while the third patient was a 60-year-old male patient with the primary tumor localized at the foot showing a histopathology

Table 2. Patient distribution according to time of PET/CT scanning

-	
PET/CT scanning	Number of patients
1 st postoperative year	65
1 st and 2 nd postoperative year	30
2 nd and 3 rd postoperative year	22
3 rd and 4 th postoperative year	12
4 th and 5 th postoperative year	5
5 th and 6 th postoperative year	6
6 th and 7 th postoperative year	3

of Clark level V subungual melanoma, tumor thickness of 0.6 mm with ulceration (Figure 2A, 2B, 2C, 2D).

For the patients with negative SLNB results, the detection rate of distant metastasis with PET/CT was significantly lower (p<0.001) than that in patients with positive SLNB results (Table 4).

Discussion

In a study on the routine use of ¹⁸F-FDG PET in patients with early stage CM and positive SLNB results by Horn et al. (6), ¹⁸F-FDG PET was reported to be positive in 27% of these cases. However, only 12% of these have been verified as true CM metastases. According to this result, even in case of positive SLNB results, FDG PET imaging did not have a clinically important impact for staging. On the contrary, our results demonstrated that 53.5% of patients with a positive SLNB also had a positive PET/CT scan in terms of metastatic lesions, which indicates that in approximately half of the study patients any possibly metastatic lesion could be detected by PET/CT. Therefore, PET/CT is a feasible method in these patients to detect possible distant metastatic lesions.



Figure 1. Preoperative lymphoscintigraphy image of a patient with a positive axillary sentinel lymph nodes biopsy (A) along with metastatic lun nodules and mediastinal lymph nodes of the same patient in PET/CT scan performed within the 1st postoperative year (B)

Table 3. Sentinel lymph nodes biopsy results and PET/CTresults of all patients						
Patient	SLN	PET	_			
1	+	-	_			
2	-	-				
3	+	+				
4	+	+				
5	+	+				
6	+	+				
7	+	+				
8	+	+				
9	+	+				
10	+	+				
11	+	+				
12	+	-				
13	+	+				
14	-	-				
15	+	-				
16	+	+				
17	-	-				
18	+	+				
19	+	-				
20	+	-				
21	+	-				
22	+	-				
23	-	-				
24	+	-				
25	-	-				
26	-	-				
27	-	-				
28	-	-				
29	+	+				
30	-	-				
31	-	+				
32	-	-				
33	+	-				
34	-	-				
35	-	+				
36	+	+				
37	+	+				
38	+	+				
39	+	+				
40	+	+				

Table 3. Co	ntinuea		
Patient	SLN	PET	
41	+	-	
42	+	+	
43	+	-	
44	+	-	
45	+	+	
46	+	+	
47	-	-	
48	+	+	
49	+	-	
50	+	-	
51	-	+	
52	-	-	
53	+	-	
54	+	-	
55	-	-	
56	-	-	
57	-	-	
58	+	-	
59	+	-	
60	+	-	
61	-	-	
62	+	-	
63	-	-	
64	+	+	
65	-	-	

Table 4. The correlation of sentinel lymph nodes biopsy and PET/CT results

Patient results	PET/CT (+)	PET/CT (-)		
SLN biopsy (+)	n=23 (53.5%)	n=20 (46.5%)		
SLN biopsy (-)	n=3 (13.6%)	n=19 (86.4%)		
p<0.001, SLN: Sentinel lymph nodes				

Constantinidou et al. (7) have reported that PET scan was positive on two patients none of which was related to melanoma out of 30 patients who were referred for PET/CT within 100 days postoperatively with positive SLNB results, and the value of PET was determined to be limited for staging, although they have indicated that FDG PET was a highly sensitive and specific method in identifying distant metastases. The positive SLNB rate is reported as approximately 20% in most studies on CM patients. In our study group, this rate was determined to be much higher (66.2%) which may be attributed to the significantly advanced disease stage of our patients, having Clark levels mostly greater than 4.

Wagner et al. (8) performed ¹⁸F-FDG PET or PET/CT scans in 46 CM patients in order to determine the rate of distant metastasis, within 6 weeks after positive SLNBs. Of these 46 patients, 6 had an inconclusive PET/CT. The distant metastases were detected in 5 (12.5%) of the remaining 40 patients with negative PET results by other methods within 12 months. In this study, FDG PET was found



Figure 2. PET/CT images performed within the 1st postoperative year of a patient with primary tumor localized at the foot with a negative sentinel lymph nodes biopsy, showing right axillary lymph node metastasis (A), mesenteric metastasis (B), and bone metastasis (C and D)

inadequate in detecting distant metastases during initial staging of these patients with positive SLNB results. These results may be due to the lack of macroscopic metastatic disease detectable by PET scan performed within six weeks after positive SLNBs.

In other similar studies, PET/CT was found to be ineffective in early stages of CM even in patients with positive SLNBs. Actually, it is thought that this insufficiency could be more pronounced in t patients with negative SLNBs, which was the case in our study. In line with these findings, our results indicated that 86.4% of the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CTs performed in the first postoperative year in patients with negative SLNB results were also negative.

In another study evaluating the accuracy of SLNB and ¹⁸F-FDG PET imaging for determining early lymph node metastasis by Libberecht et al. (9), preoperative PET imaging and SLNB were performed in five patients diagnosed with CM over 1 mm Breslow thickness and without clinically detected lymph node metastases and recurrence. In this study, no lymph node involvement or distant metastasis were detected by PET while micrometastasis was histologically detected in the SLN in 2 of the 5 patients (40%) included in the study during the 10 month study period. The false negative finding of lymph node metastasis by PET in this small group of patients indicated that PET had a limited role for this group of patients without palpable lymph nodes. Accordingly, even when there was micrometastasis in the SLN(s), it was determined that the probability of distant organ metastasis detection by PET performed within 10 months would be low. In other words, keeping the limited number of patients in mind, ¹⁸F-FDG PET together with SLNB was found to be negative in 60% of their patients.

In a retrospective study of 61 patients with early stage CM, Klode et al. (10) reported that only 1 of 17 metastatic SLNs was detected in 14 patients (23%) by preoperative ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. In that study, the sensitivity and the negative predictive value of ¹⁸F-FDG PET as a diagnostic test was calculated as 5.9% and 78%, respectively. It was concluded that ¹⁸F-FDG PET was not an appropriate method for evaluation of early regional lymphatic metastases and that ¹⁸F-FDG PET would be more applicable for AJCC stage III-IV CM patients.

Some of the aforementioned studies have reported that ¹⁸F-FDG PET imaging was not sensitive in detecting SLN metastases. For example, in a study on patients diagnosed with early-stage CM Wagner et al. (8) reported the true positivity rate of FDG PET as 11%. We could not make a similar evaluation since we did not evaluate ¹⁸F-FDG uptake particularly for SLN(s). Moreover, in that study distant metastasis could be detected only in 12.5% of patients by early ¹⁸F-FDG PET imaging. According to our study, recurrence or distant metastasis could be demonstrated in 53.5% of cases with a positive SLNB within the first year by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT.

It was an interesting finding that in 3 patients whose SLN was negative, the PET/CT results were positive. Unfortunately, we could not depict any underlying reason to explain it. There was diversity in terms of their age, gender, site and type of lesions.

Study Limitations

The main limitation of our study was not to perform histopathologic verification for foci of ¹⁸F-FDG uptake in the study group. However, the patients were followed-up for long periods and secondary malignancy was not detected in any patients, that could have been interpreted as a false positive metastatic disease for CM.

Conclusion

The existing published articles have focused on the utility of ¹⁸F-FDG PET or PET/CT to demonstrate distant metastases in patients with positive SLNBs, and this imaging method was not recommended at early stages of this disease for this particular purpose. Keeping that in mind, we tried to understand if this method is useful in the initial workup of CM patients with negative SLNBs.

In conclusion, ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT performed within the first year after excision of the primary lesion in patients with CM was positive in 53.5% of patients with a positive SLNB, and was negative in 86.4% of patients with a negative SLNB.

It is well known that, SLNB does not provide direct information on the presence or absence of distant metastases (6). Nevertheless, our study also demonstrated that the presence of distant metastases within the first year was more than two-fold higher in patients with regional SLN involvement as compared to patients without SLN metastasis.

The results of our study showed that results of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT performed during the first year follow-up of patients histologically diagnosed with CM and had negative SLNB had a good correlation. Accordingly, ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT was found to be negative during the first year follow-up of patients with a negative SLNB. Therefore, it is concluded that ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT scanning will not provide any significant clinical contribution. The results also suggested that both local and distant metastases could be demonstrated by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in more than half of the patients with a positive SLNB result and that PET/CT scanning was important in terms of re-staging.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval and Informed Consent: This study was approved by the İstanbul University Cerrahpaşa Medical Faculty Ethics Committee (date: 12 July 2010, file

number: 20697) and signed written informed consent was obtained from all research subjects.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S., Concept: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S., Design: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S., Data Collection or Processing: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S., Analysis or Interpretation: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S., Literature Search: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S., Writing: Ö.V.T., F.A.Ç., Z.R.K.D., Ç.Ö., H.B.S.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Danielsen M, Højgaard L, Kjær A, Fischer BMB. Positron emission tomography in the follow up of cutaneous malignant melanoma patients: a systematic review. Am J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2013;4:17-28.
- 2. Rohren EM. PET/Computed Tomography and Patient Outcomes in Melanoma. PET Clin 2015;10:243-254.
- Tyler DS, Onaitis M, Kherani A, Hata A, Nicholson E, Keogan M, Fisher S, Coleman E, Seigler HE Positron emission tomography scanning in malignant melanoma. Clinical utility in patients with stage III disease. Cancer 2000;89:1019-1025.
- Reinhardt MJ, Joe AY, Jaeger U, Huber A, Matthies A, Bucerius J, Roedel R, Strunk H, Bieber T, Biersack HJ, Tüiting T. Diagnostic performance of whole body dual modality 18F-FDG PET/CT imaging for N and M staging of malignant melanoma: experience with 250 consecutive patients. J Clin Oncol 2006;24:1178-1187.
- Coit DG, Andtbacka R, Bichakjian CK, Dilawari RA, Dimaio D, Guild V, Halpem AC, Hodi FS, Kashani-Sabet M, Lange JR, Lind A, Martin L, Martini MC, Pruitt SK, Ross MI, Sener SF, Swetter SM, Tanabe KK, Thompson JA, Trisal V, Urist MM, Weber J, Wong MK. Melanoma. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2009;7:250-275.
- Horn J, Lock-Andersen J, Sjostrand H, Loft A. Routine use of FDG-PET scans in melanoma patients with positive sentinel lymph node biopsy. Eur J Nucl Med Mol Imaging 2006;33:887-892.
- Constantinidou A, Hofman M, O'Doherty M, Acland KM, Healy C, Harries M. Routine positron emission tomography and positron emission tomography/computed tomography in melanoma staging with positive sentinel node biopsy is of limited benefit. Melanoma Res 2008;18:56-60.
- Wagner T, Meyer N, Zerdoud S, Julian A, Chevreau C, Payoux P, Courbon F. Fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography fails to detect distant metastases at initial staging of melanoma patients with metastatic involvement of sentinel lymph node. Br J Dermatol 2011;164:1235-1240.
- Libberecht K, Husada G, Peeters T, Michiels P, Gys T, Molderez C. Initial staging of malignant melanoma by positron emission tomography and sentinel node biopsy. Acta Chir Belg 2005;105:621-625.
- Klode J, Dissemond J, Grabbe S, Hillen U, Poeppel T, Boeing C. Sentinel lymph node excision and PET/CT in the initial stage of malignant melanoma: a retrospective analysis of 61 patients with malignant melanoma in American Joint Committee on Cancer stages I and II. Dermatol Surg 2010;36:439-445.



The Contribution of Fluorine ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT to Lung Cancer Diagnosis, Staging and Treatment Planning

Flor ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'nin Akciğer Kanseri Tanı, Evreleme ve Tedavi Planlamasına Katkısı

Emine Budak¹, Gürsel Çok², Ayşegül Akgün³

¹University of Health Sciences, İzmir Dr. Suat Seren Chest Diseases and Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

²Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Chest Diseases, İzmir, Turkey

³Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Abstract

Objective: Lung cancer is the most common cause of cancer-related death throughout the world, and the correct choice of treatment based on early diagnosis and staging increases the chance of survival. The present study aims to investigate the contribution of fluorine 18-fluorodeoxyglucose-positron emission tomography/computed tomography (¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT) to the management of lung cancer.

Methods: In this study, 50 patients who underwent ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT for lung cancer diagnosis and staging between February 2012 and February 2014 were included. The maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}) of the primary lung lesion along with other findings of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT and the results of histopathologic and conventional examinations were evaluated retrospectively. The mean survival time of patients was determined, and the findings were compared by using statistical methods.

Results: Histopathologic examinations revealed 51 lung cancers in 50 patients. The sensitivity, accuracy and positive predictive value of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in detecting primary malignancy were 94%, 94%, 100%, respectively. Adenocarcinoma (n=23, 16.8±13.5) and squamous cell carcinoma (n=15, 17.9±5.6) did not differ significantly regarding their mean SUV_{max} values (p=0.2). A statistically significant positive correlation (r=0.4) was identified between tumor size and SUV_{max} value for 51 tumors (p=0.002). The ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT result was true negative in nine, false positive in six, true positive in two, and false negative in four patients who underwent histopathologic evaluation of their lymph nodes. The ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT changed treatment planning in 34% of the patients. No significant relationship was identified between SUV_{max} value of the tumor and patient survival in patients (p=0.118).

Conclusion: The present study concluded that PET/CT was an efficient method in the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer since it provided useful information in addition to conventional methods. It was also observed that PET/CT scanning resulted in a change in therapeutic plans in the majority of patients. However, there was no statistically significant relationship between survival and the SUV_{max} of the primary mass.

Keywords: Lung cancer, positron emission tomography, survival analysis

Address for Correspondence: Emine Budak MD, University of Health Sciences, İzmir Dr. Suat Seren Chest Diseases and Surgery Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, İzmir, Turkey

Phone: +90 530 775 73 06 E-mail: eminetkn4@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-5632-2741

Received: 02.12.2017 Accepted: 06.03.2018

[©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.

Öz

Amaç: Akciğer kanseri, tüm dünyada kansere bağlı ölümlerin en sık nedenidir. Erken tanı ve evrelemeye bağlı doğru tedavi seçimi akciğer kanserinde sağkalımı artıran bir faktördür. Amacımız akciğer kanseri yönetimine flor 18-fluorodeoksiglukozpozitron emisyon tomografisi/bilgisayarlı tomografinin (¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT) katkısını araştırmaktır.

Yöntem: Çalışmamıza Şubat 2012-Şubat 2014 tarihleri arasında akciğer kanseri tanı ve evrelemesi amacıyla ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT yapılan 50 hasta dahil edildi. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'de akciğerde saptanan primer lezyonun maksimum standart tutulum değeri (SUV_{maks}) ve diğer bulguları ile histopatolojik ve konvansiyonel yöntem sonuçları retrospektif olarak değerlendirildi. Hastaların ortalama sağkalım süresi belirlendi. İstatistiksel yöntemler kullanılarak bulgular karşılaştırıldı.

Bulgular: Elli hastada histopatolojik olarak toplam 51 akciğer kanseri saptandı. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'nin primer maligniteyi saptamada duyarlılık, doğruluk ve pozitif prediktif değeri sırasıyla %94, %94, %100 saptandı. Adenokarsinom (n=23, 16,8±13,5) ve skuamöz hücreli karsinom (n=15, 17,9±5,6) ortalama SUV_{maks} değeri açısından anlamlı bir farklılık göstermedi (p=0,2). Elli bir tümör için tümör boyutu ile SUV_{maks} değeri arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı pozitif korelasyon (r=0,4) mevcuttu (p=0,002). ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT, histopatolojik olarak lenf nodu değerlendirilen hastaların; dokuzunda gerçek negatif, altısında yanlış pozitif, ikisinde gerçek pozitif ve dördünde yanlış negatifti. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT, hastaların %34'ünde tedavi planını değiştirdi. Tümörün SUV_{maks} değeri ile hasta sağkalımı arasında anlamlı bir ilişki yoktu (p=0,118).

Sonuç: Çalışmamızda PET/BT'nin konvansiyonel yöntemlere ek önemli bilgiler sağlayarak akciğer kanseri tanı ve evrelemesinde etkin bir yöntem olduğu sonucuna varıldı. Ayrıca PET/BT'nin evrelemeye katkısıyla hastaların önemli bir kısmında tedavi planında değişikliğe neden olduğu görüldü. Ancak primer kitlenin SUV_{maks} değeri ile hastaların sağkalımı arasında istatistiksel olarak anlamlı ilişki saptanmadı.

Anahtar kelimeler: Akciğer kanseri, pozitron emisyon tomografi, sağkalım analizi

Introduction

Lung cancer is the most frequent malignancy throughout the world since 1985 (1) and the leading cause of cancerrelated death in both men and women (2). Curative treatment can be offered to lung cancer patients with early diagnosis, in whom computed tomography (CT) is the first diagnostic tool (3). One of the most important prognostic factors in lung cancer is tumor stage. Hence, proper staging is very important when determining prognosis and choosing appropriate treatment. T-staging is based on CT findings, although this modality may be unable to distinguish a tumor from atelectasis or show disease extent. Fluorine 18-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/CT (¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT) is an effective method for the diagnosis, staging, evaluation of treatment response, follow-up for recurrence and re-staging of lung cancer. In our retrospective study, we investigated the contribution of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT to lung cancer diagnosis, staging and management, as well as the prognostic and survival effects of the maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}) of the primary lesion in an ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT.

Materials and Methods

The present study included 50 patients who have been referred to Ege University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine between February 2012 and February 2014, and who have undergone ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT scanning for the diagnosing and staging of lung cancer. Patients were injected intravenously with 250-400 MBq of ¹⁸F-FDG at least four hours after fasting for ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT imaging. Approximately one hour after

the tracer injection. PET and CT scans were obtained using a PET-CT scanner (biograph high-definition 16-slice CT, Siemens Healthcare, Erlangen, Germany), and the PET and CT images were loaded onto three-dimensional workstations. Visual and semi-quantitative evaluation of the lesions observed on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT were carried out. In case of non-physiologically enhanced areas of activity associated with soft/bone tissue on CT, the finding was identified as "PET lesion", and these PET lesions were interpreted as malignant if either the SUV_{max} value >2.5 or when the FDG uptake was significantly higher than the background tissue. Adrenal gland lesions with a higher FDG uptake than the liver were considered as malignant. A total of 30 patients or their close relatives were accessed to assess survival. One of those 30 patients had synchronous double primary lung cancers. The correlation between the SUV_{max} value of the primary lesion and patient survival was evaluated. The findings of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT were compared with radiologic and histopathologic results as well as the final clinical decisions and the determined stages.

Statistical Analysis

The IBM SPSS V 21.0 software was used for statistical analysis. Kolmogorov-Smirnov and Shapiro-Wilk (S-W) tests were utilized for normality analysis of data distribution, and Mann-Whitney U test was applied to determine the differences between the two groups in case of non-normal distribution. A Spearman's rho correlation test was utilized to investigate the correlation between the parameters, and the Kaplan Meier method was used for survival analysis. The differences in survival curves taking different variables into account were tested by using the log-rank test.

Results

This study included 50 patients (46 males, four female, mean age 63.0±8.6) who underwent ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. A histopathologic diagnosis of lung cancer was obtained in all patients. There were 51 tumors in 50 patients since one patient had synchronous double primary lung cancers that have been diagnosed as adenocarcinoma. The histopathologic results of the lung lesions revealed 23 adenocarcinomas, 15 squamous cell carcinomas (SCC), four small-cell lung cancers (SCLC), two large-cell

neuroendocrine carcinomas, one adenoid cystic carcinoma, one carcinoid tumor and five non-SCLC [(NSCLC), with no specific classifications]. Patient and tumor characteristics are summarized in Table 1. In terms of detecting malignancy, the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT yielded true positive results in 48 and false negative findings in three cases out of the 51 tumors. The tumor size and histopathologic features of these three false negative lesions were 0.6 cm adenocarcinoma (SUV_{max}: 1.4), 1.3 cm adenocarcinoma (SUV_{max}: 0.8). In the patient who had synchronous double primary lung

Table 1. Patient-tumor characteristics and the impact of positron emission tomography/computed tomography on patient management

No	Sex	Histologic subtype	Tumor diameter (cm)	Tumor SUV _{max}	Patient survival (month)	Impact of PET/CT scan on patient management
1	М	AC	1	9.3	6	-
2	Μ	AC	2.7	18.6	8	-
		AC	0.6	1.4	5	-
3	Μ	AC	6.4	61.8	11	-
4	Μ	SCC	4.5	29.6		-
5	Μ	AC	4.4	34.2	20	-
6	Μ	NSCLC	5.9	13.7		-
7	Μ	SCC	3.5	14.3		-
8	Μ	LCNEC	1.6	15.8	15	-
9	Μ	CARCINOID	1	0.8	17	-
10	Μ	AC	5.5	21.3	8	+ (4a)'
11	Μ	NSCLC	3.3	19.7	7	+ (2)*
12	Μ	AC	5.2	19.4		+ (4b)'
13	Μ	SCC	6	15.5	19	-
14	Μ	AC	3.7	10.9	15	-
15	Μ	SCC	11.5	14.5	1	-
16	Μ	AC	12.3	14.4	8	-
17	F	SCLC	6.1	14.8		-
18	Μ	SCC	4	14.9	6	-
19	Μ	AC	2	12.3	7	-
20	Μ	AC	1.5	10.3		-
21	Μ	SCLC	3.6	10	1	+ (2)*
22	Μ	SCC	9.5	19.2	14	-
23	Μ	LCNEC	2.7	17	15	+ (4c)'
24	Μ	AC	3.7	20.9		+ (3)*
25	Μ	SCC	4.6	24.7	12	-
26	Μ	SCC	11	20.5		+ (2)*
27	М	SCC	8	26.7		+ (3)*
28	F	AC	2.3	9.8		-
29	М	SCC	3	7		+ (6)'

Table 1. Continued								
No	Sex	Histologic subtype	Tumor diameter (cm)	Tumor SUV _{max}	Patient survival (month)	Impact of PET/CT scan on patient management		
30	F	NSCLC	5	9.3	5	-		
31	Μ	AC	4.3	16.3		-		
32	Μ	NSCLC	9	25.5		+ (3)*		
33	Μ	NSCLC	6.2	21	3	-		
34	Μ	SCC	5.9	17.6		+ (1)*		
35	Μ	SCC	5.5	14.2	6	-		
36	Μ	SCLC	9.5	11.1	0	-		
37	Μ	SCC	7	17.8	14	+ (3)*		
38	Μ	SCLC	10	24.5		-		
39	Μ	SCC	5	16.9	19	+ (3)*		
40	Μ	AC	9	11.5		-		
41	Μ	AC	5.6	40.5		+ (5)'		
42	Μ	AC	9.5	18.5		+ (5)'		
43	F	AC	2.8	20.1	5	-		
44	Μ	AC	2.9	9.5	4	+ (1)*		
45	Μ	AC	1.5	4	3	-		
46	Μ	AC	1.3	1.6		-		
47	Μ	SCC	5.4	16.4	3	+ (2)*		
48	Μ	ACC	4.5	19.6	4	-		
49	Μ	AC	1.2	4.1	2	-		
50	М	AC	2.4	17		-		

F: Female, M: Male, AC: Adenocarcinoma, SCC: Squamous cell carcinoma, SCLC: Small-cell lung cancer, LCNEC: Large-cell neuroendocrine carcinomas, ACC: Adenoid cystic carcinoma, NSCLC: Non-small-cell lung cancers, PET/CT: Positron emission tomography/computed tomography, SUV_{max}: Maximum standardized uptake value. *Patients were classified as "at a potentially operable stage (stage 1-3A)" by conventional staging, 'Patients were classified as "at a potentially inoperable stage (stage 3B-4)"

by conventional staging, (1): PET/CT detected N1 lymph node metastasis, (2): PET/CT detected N3 lymph node metastasis, (3): PET/CT detected distant metastasis, (4): The areas considered as distant metastases (4a: axillary lymph node, 4b: surrenal gland, 4c: liver) in the patients who were identified with M1 disease by conventional staging were interpreted as benign by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT, (5): Distant metastases were detected by PET/CT, (6): The pulmonary mass that was interpreted as benign by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT, (5): Distant metastases were detected by PET/CT, (6): The pulmonary mass that was interpreted as benign by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT.

cancers, the adenocarcinoma of 0.6 cm (SUV_{max}: 1.4) had a false negative finding whereas the 2.7 cm-sized (SUV_{max}: 18.6) adenocarcinoma was detected. The sensitivity, accuracy and positive predictive value of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in detecting primary malignancy were calculated as 94%, 94% and 100%, respectively. The mean SUV_{max} values of adenocarcinoma (n=23) and SCC (n=15) lesions was 16.8±13.5 and 17.9±5.6, respectively. These two types of lung cancer were similar in terms of SUV_{max} values (p=0.2). The correlation between tumor diameter and SUV_{max} was evaluated for all tumors. The mean tumor diameter of the 51 tumors was 5.0±2.9 cm. Tumor sizes ranged from 0.6 cm to 12.3 cm. A statistically significant positive correlation (r=0.4) was identified between tumor size and SUV_{max} (p=0.002). Two patients had post-obstructive atelectasis due to the tumor, and the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT was able to distinguish between the tumor and the atelectasis owing to an intense FDG uptake in the tumor area. Thus, the tumor size was correctly calculated (Figure 1). The histopathologic results of the lymph nodes were compared with nodal staging according to ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. Histopathologic evaluation of the lymph nodes was performed on 21 patients. The ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT findings were interpreted as true negative in nine, false positive in six, true positive in two and false negative in four patients. In this regard, 11/21 (52%) of the patients were correctly staged by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT, while 4/21 (19%) patients were incorrectly downstaged and 6/21 (28%) were incorrectly up-staged by PET-CT. Within the group of 15 histopathologically NO patients, the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT was N0 in nine (true negative) while it was false positive in the remaining six patients. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT identified subcarinal, right hilar and left interlobar hypermetabolic lymph nodes in one of the six patients with a false positive result (Figure 2). Thus, the patient was staged as N3 on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. Histopathologically, these lymph nodes were assessed as anthracosis and the



Figure 1. Axial, coronal, and sagittal CT images (A), fused PET/CT images (B) and PET images (C) of the patient with small cell lung carcinoma. The tumor size could not clearly be assessed on CT images. The fused PET/CT images enables differentiation of tumor and atelectasis areas due to intense FDG uptake of the tumor area [tumor maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}): 10, atelectasis SUV_{max}: 3.7], thus, the tumor size has been correctly calculated



Figure 2. A and B demonstrate axial sections of CT and fused PET/CT images in the patient with lung adenocarcinoma. Right hilar [black arrow in A, maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}): 4.1], subcarinal (red arrow in A, SUV_{max} : 4.2) and left interlobar hypermetabolic lymph nodes (in B, SUV_{max} : 3.8) seen on fused PET/CT were evaluated as anthracosis using histopathologic sampling. The hypermetabolic subaortic lymph node (blue arrowhead in A, SUV_{max} : 4.1) was histopathologically reactive

patient was down-staged. When assessed on a patient-bypatient basis, hilar and interlobar lymph nodes were most commonly recorded as false-positives on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT (in 66% of patients with false-positive lymph nodes). A total of 20 distant metastatic sites (eight bone, five liver, three surrenal gland, two brain, one spinal, one pons metastases) were detected in 14 patients (28% of all patients) by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. Of these metastases, 12/20 (60%) could only be detected by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. When evaluated on a patient-by-patient basis, in 14% (7/50) of all patients, distant metastases were detected only by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT.

¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT led to a change in treatment plan based on conventional methods in 17/50 (34%) patients. Through conventional staging, 11 of these 17 patients were classified as "at a potentially operable" stage (stage 1-3A), five were classified as "at a potentially inoperable" stage (stage 3B-4), and one patient had a lesion that was assessed to be benign by conventional methods. Within the group of 11 patients classified as "at a potentially operable" stage, four had N3 lymph node metastases and five had distant metastases as identified by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. As a result, these patients underwent chemotherapy thus avoiding unnecessary surgery in 9/50 (18%) patients. In the other two patients, N1 lymph node metastasis was detected by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT, and neoadjuvant chemotherapy was started prior to the operation. Within the group of five patients who were classified as "at a potentially inoperable" stage, three were identified with M1 disease by conventional staging. The areas considered as distant metastases in these three patients were interpreted as benign by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT and thus were accepted as candidates for curative treatment. The other two patients were categorized as stage 3B by conventional methods and were thus planned for chemotherapy and localized radiotherapy. However, distant metastases were detected by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in these two patients who underwent chemotherapy and palliative radiotherapy. Another patient had a lesion that was interpreted as benign by conventional methods while the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/ CT evaluated this mass as malignant, and the patient was started on chemotherapy. The impact of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT on patient management is listed in Table 1. Finally, the correlation between SUV_{max} value of the primary lesion and patient survival was evaluated in 30 patients, one of whom was the patient who had synchronous double primary lung cancers. Primarily, the median SUV_{max} (median SUV_{max}= 15.6) was calculated and accepted as the "cut-off" value. The mean survival time was 10.3±2.2 months in patients with $\mathsf{SUV}_{\mathsf{max}}$ <15.6, and 15.9±1.6 months in those with $SUV_{max} \ge 15.6$. There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of survival (p=0.118) (Figure 3).

Discussion

Lung cancer is the most common cause of cancer-related death worldwide, and early diagnosis is important for the application of curative treatments. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT is used commonly to differentiate benign and malignant lung lesions. Gupta et al. (4) reported the sensitivity and specificity of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in benign-malignant distinction of indeterminate solitary pulmonary nodules as 93% and 88%, respectively. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT might yield a false positive result in inflammatory conditions, tuberculosis or granulomatous lesions. A false negative ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT result is generally associated with nodules measuring less than 1 cm, carcinoid tumors or bronchoalveolar carcinomas (BAC) (5,6,7,8,9). In our study, ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT provided a true positive result in 94% and a false negative result in 6% of 51 lesions. The tumors with a false negative ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT included two adenocarcinomas (0.6 cm and 1.3 cm) and one carcinoid tumor (1 cm). The small size and presence of a carcinoid tumor may have contributed to the false negative results. In the present study, the sensitivity, accuracy and positive predictive value of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in the detection of primary malignancy were calculated as 94%, 94% and 100%, respectively. These results are consistent with that reported in the literature. Several studies indicated that the mean SUV and SUV_{max} differ according to histologic subtypes of lung cancer. In particular, it has been reported that the SUV_{max} of carcinoid tumors and BAC are low (10,11). Vesselle et al. (12) found that the SUV_{max} of BAC was lower than all other subtypes, and that non-BAC adenocarcinomas had lower SUV_{max}



Figure 3. Survival curves of patients according to their maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}) values; there was no significant difference in terms of mean survival time between SUV_{max} values below 15.6 (10.3 \pm 2.2 months) and those above 15.6 (15.9 \pm 1.6 months) (p=0.118)

values than SCC. The majority of studies in the literature report that the SUV_{max} of adenocarcinomas is lower than that of SCCs (13,14). However, in our study, no statistically significant difference was identified between adenocarcinoma (16.8±13.5) and SCC (17.9±5.6) in terms of mean SUV_{max} (p=0.2). Several studies showed that tumor size is a prognostic factor for survival in NSCLC (15). The correlation between tumor size and SUV_{max} has been previously assessed (16,17). Zhu et al. (18) reported a moderate positive correlation between SUV_{max} value and tumor size (r=0.642, p<0.001). In our study, a positive correlation (p=0.002) was identified between tumor size and SUV_{max}, in line with findings of the earlier studies.

The detection of both lymph node and distant metastases is essential for proper staging in lung cancer. The sensitivity of ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in lymph nodes greater than 1 cm is high, although the accuracy and specificity rates are low (19). In a study by Detterbeck et al. (20), the false positive rate of PET in mediastinal lymph nodes was reported to be 13-22%, and the false negative rate as 5-8%. In our study, histopathologic lymph node evaluation was carried out in 21 of the 50 patients, and 52% of the 21 patients were correctly staged by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT whereas the rate of patients incorrectly downstaged or up-staged by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT were detected as 19% and 28%, respectively. In our study, the false positive and false negative lymph node rates in ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT were found to be higher than that reported in the literature. This finding may be attributed to the fact that histopathologic evaluation was not performed in all lymph nodes evaluated as either positive or negative by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT. Furthermore; sarcoidosis, amyloidosis, anthracosis, tuberculosis and organized pneumonia may cause false positive results in lymph nodes. In one patient with a false positive lymph node on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/ CT, histopathologic sampling revealed anthracosis. In addition, pulmonary infections or granulomatous diseases such as tuberculosis or sarcoidosis that are frequent in our country might have contributed to these outcomes. Further investigation of lymph node and distant organ metastases, particularly in patients being considered for surgical therapy, could prevent unnecessary surgery. Van Tinteren et al. (21) reported that performing an ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT in addition to conventional methods as part of preoperative staging of NSCLC might avoid unwarranted surgery in one-fifth of patients. In a study on patients with NSCLC, an ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT led to a change in disease stage as determined by conventional methods in 50.6% (41.1% up-staged, 9.5% down-staged) of patients, and alteration in treatment planning in 42.3% (22). In our study, the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT resulted in a change in the treatment plan as decided by conventional methods in 34% of all patients, and unnecessary surgery was prevented in 18% of the patients. In 6% of the

patients, the ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT was interpreted as negative for areas identified as metastasis through conventional methods, leading patients to possible curative therapy. In various studies, SUV_{max} of the primary tumor detected by ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT was used to predict lung cancer prognosis and assess patient survival (23,24). Ahuja et al. (25) found that patients with primary tumors showing a high FDG uptake had lower survival rates than those with a low uptake, while Hoang et al. (26) found no significant association between FDG uptake of the primary tumor and survival in patients with advanced NSCLC. In a metaanalysis published by IASLC in 2008, the SUV_{max} of the primary tumor was a strong determinant of prognosis in NSCLC. However, the need to support this finding with multivariate analysis was emphasized (27). The present study evaluated the relationship between SUV_{max} of the primary tumor and patient survival and no significant difference was identified between those with SUV_{max} below 15.6 (10.3±2.2 months) and above 15.6 (15.9±1.6 months) in terms of mean survival time (p=0.118). Several previous studies support our findings, although a larger number of authors argue that SUV_{max} could be used to predict prognosis and assess survival in case of lung cancer. Our results might be related to the limited number of patients in the study as well as the differences between the two groups (e.g. age, genetic factors, stage, tumor pathology).

Conclusion

Despite the limitations of our study, such as limited number of patients, most of the results are consistent with previous studies. In our study, it is concluded that ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT contributes to both the diagnosis and management of lung cancer by providing valuable information in addition to conventional methods.

Ethics

Ethics Committee Approval: The study protocol was approved by the Ethics Committee of Clinical and Laboratory Researches of Ege University Faculty of Medicine with decision number: 14-4.2/16 dated: 12.06.2014.

Informed Consent: Informed consent was waived due to the retrospective design of the study.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Concept: E.B., Design: E.B., A.A., Data Collection or Processing: E.B., G.Ç., A.A., Analysis or Interpretation: E.B., G.Ç., A.A., Literature Search: E.B., A.A., Writing: E.B., A.A.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- 1. Dela Cruz CS, Tanoue LT, Matthay RA. Lung Cancer: Epidemiology, Etiology, and Prevention. Clin Chest Med 2011;32:605-644.
- Jemal A, Siegel R, Ward E, Hao Y, Xu J, Thun MJ. Cancer statistics, 2009. CA Cancer J Clin 2009;59:225-249.
- Purandere NC, Rangarajan V. Imaging of lung cancer: Implications on staging and management. Indian J Radiol Imaging 2015;25:109-120.
- Gupta NC, Maloof J, Gunel E. Probability of malignancy in solitary pulmonary nodules using fluorine-18-FDG and PET. J Nucl Med 1996;137:943-949.
- Feng M, Yang X, Ma Q, He Y. Retrospective analysis for the false positive diagnosis of PET-CT scan in lung cancer patients. Medicine (Baltimore) 2017;96:e7415.
- Herder GJ, Van Tinteren H, Comans EF, Hoekstra OS, Teule GJ, Postmus PE, Joshi U, Smit EF. Prospective use of serial questionnaires to evaluate the therapeutic efficacy of 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomography (PET) in suspected lung cancer. Thorax 2003;58:47-51.
- Chang JM, Lee HJ, Goo JM, Lee HY, Lee JJ, Chung JK, Im JG. False Positive and False Negative FDG-PET Scans in Various Thoracic Diseases. Korean J Radiol 2006;7:57-69.
- Long NM, Smith CS. Causes and imaging features of false positives and false negatives on 18F-PET/CT in oncologic imaging. Insights Imaging. 2011;2:679-698.
- Bunyaviroch T, Coleman RE. PET Evaluation of Lung Cancer. J Nucl Med 2006;47:451-469.
- Liu Y. Lung Neoplasms with Low F18-Fluorodeoxyglucose Avidity. PET Clin 2018;13:11-18.
- 11. Meirelles GS, Capobianco J, de Oliveira MA. Pitfalls and artifacts in the interpretation of oncologic PET/CT of the chest. Radiol Bras 2017;50:55-59.
- Vesselle H, Salskov A, Turcotte E, Wiens L, Schmidt R, Jordan CD, Vallières E, Wood DE. Relationship between non-small cell lung cancer FDG uptake at PET, tumor histology, and Ki-67 proliferation index. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:971-978.
- Wang Y, Ma S, Dong, Yao Y, Liu K, Zhou J. Evaluation of the factors affecting the maximum standardized uptake value of metastatic lymph nodes in different histological types of non-small cell lung cancer on PET-CT. BMC Pulm Med 2015;15:20.
- Lu P, Yu L, Li Y, Sun Y. A correlation study between maximum standardized uptake values and pathology and clinical staging in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Nucl Med Commun 2010;31:646-651.
- Mery CM, Pappas AN, Burt BM, Bueno R, Linden PA, Sugarbaker DJ, Jaklitsch MT. Diameter of non-small cell lung cancer correlates with long-term survival: implications for T stage. Chest 2005;128:3255-3260.
- Liu Y, Wu N, Bi GC, Zhang DS, Zheng R, Liang Y, Zhang WJ, Li XM, Fang Y. Correlation analysis between 18F-FDG uptake features and the prognosis in patients with pathologic stage lung adenocarcinoma. Zhonghua Zhong Liu Za Zhi 2016;38:263-269.
- Sunnetcioglu A, Arisoy A, Demir Y, Ekin S, Dogan E. Associations between the standardized uptake value of (18)F-FDG PET/CT and demographic, clinical, pathological, radiological factors in lung cancer. Int J Clin Exp Med 2015;8:15794-15800.
- Zhu SH, Zhang Y, Yu YH, Fu Z, Kong L, Han DL, Fu L, Yu JM, Li J. FDG PET-CT in non-small cell lung cancer: relationship between primary tumor FDG uptake and extensional or metastatic potential. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2013;14:2925-2929.
- Al-Sarraf N, Gately K, Lucey J, Wilson L, McGovern E, Young V. Lymph node staging by means of positron emission tomography is less accurate in non-small cell lung cancer patients with enlarged lymph nodes; Analysis of 1145 lymph nodes. Lung cancer 2008;60:62-68.
- Detterbeck F, Falen S, Rivera PM, Halle JS, Socinski MA. Seeking a home for a PET, part 2: Defining the appropriate place for positron emission tomography imaging in the staging of patients with suspected lung cancer. Chest 2004;125:2300-2308.

- Van Tinteren H, Hoekstra OS, Smit EF, Van Den Bergh JH, Schreurs AJ, Stallaert RA, Van Velthoven PC, Comans EF, Diepenhorst FW, Verboom P, Van Mourik JC, Postmus PE, Boers M, Teule GJ. Effectiveness of positron emission tomography in the preoperative assessment of patients with suspected non-small cell lung cancer: the PLUS multicentre randomised trial. Lancet 2002;359:1388-1393.
- Gregory DL, Hicks RJ, Hogg A, Binns DS, Shum PL, Milner A, Link E, Ball DL, Mac Manus MP. Effect of PET/CT on Management of Patients with Non–Small Cell Lung Cancer: Results of a Prospective Study with 5-Year Survival Data. J Nucl Med 2012;53:1007-1015.
- Hattori A, Matsunaga T, Takamochi K, Oh S, Suzuki K. Clinical Significance of Positron Emission Tomography in Subcentimeter Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Ann Thorac Surg 2017;103:1614-1620.
- Liu J, Dong M, Sun X, Li W, Xing L, Yu J. Prognostic Value of 18F-FDG PET/CT in Surgical Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. PLoS One 2016;11:e0146195.

- Ahuja V, Coleman RE, Herndon J, Patz EF Jr. The prognostic significance of fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography imaging for patients with nonsmall cell lung carcinoma. Cancer 1998;83:918-924.
- Hoang JK, Hoagland LF, Coleman RE, Coan AD, Herndon JE, Patz EF Jr. Prognostic Value of Fluorine 18 Fluorodeoxyglucose Positron Emission Tomography Imaging in Patients With Advanced-Stage Non Small-Cell Lung Carcinoma. J Clin Oncol 2008;26:1459-1464.
- 27. Berghmans T, Dusart M, Paesmans M, Hossein-Foucher C, Buvat I, Castaigne C, Scherpereel A, Mascaux C, Moreau M, Roelandts M, Alard S, Meert AP, Patz EF Jr, Lafitte JJ, Sculier JP; European Lung Cancer Working Party for the IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project. Primary tumor standardized uptake value (SUVmax) measured on fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography (FDG-PET) is of prognostic value for survival in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC): a systematic review and meta-analysis (MA) by the European Lung Cancer Working Party for the IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project. J Thorac Oncol 2008;3:6-12.



Laryngeal Tuberculosis Mimicking Laryngeal Carcinoma on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/ CT Imaging

¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT Görüntülemede Maligniteyi Taklit Eden Laringeal Tüberküloz

Arzu Cengiz¹, Sibel Göksel¹, Seşim Başal², Sule Taş Gülen³, Füruzan Döğer⁴, Yakup Yürekli¹
 Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Aydın, Turkey
 Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Otorhinolaryngology, Aydın, Turkey
 Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Chest Diseases, Aydın, Turkey
 Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Pathology, Aydın, Turkey

Abstract

Laryngeal tuberculosis is a rare presentation of tuberculosis. It can mimic laryngeal carcinoma with its clinical and imaging findings. A 51-year old woman underwent ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT) imaging for clinically suspected carcinoma of the larynx. PET/CT revealed lung lesions consistent with tuberculosis in additional to hypermetabolic focus on larynx. The patient was histopathologically diagnosed with lung and laryngeal tuberculosis.

Keywords: Tuberculosis, laryngeal cancer, positron emission tomography/computed tomography

Öz

Laringeal tüberküloz, tüberkülozun nadir bir formudur. Klinik ve radyolojik bulguları larinks karsinomunu taklit edebilir. Klinik olarak larinks karsinomu şüphesi olan 51 yaşında bir kadın hastaya ¹⁸F-fluorodeoksiglukoz pozitron emisyon tomografisi/ bilgisayarlı tomografi (PET/BT) ile görüntüleme yapıldı. PET/BT larinksteki hipermetabolik odağa ilave olarak tüberkülozla ilişkili akciğer lezyonlarını ortaya çıkardı. Hasta histopatolojik olarak akciğer ve larinks tüberkülozu tanısı aldı. **Anahtar kelimeler:** Tüberküloz, larinks kanseri, pozitron emisyon tomografi/bilgisayarlı tomografi

Introduction

Laryngeal tuberculosis is an infrequent manifestation of extrapulmonary tuberculosis. It occurs in only 1% of all cases (1,2). Usually, it is seen as a complication of pulmonary tuberculosis, nevertheless, solitary laryngeal involvement is possible. Clinical, laryngoscopic and radiological findings of laryngeal tuberculosis have a tendency to mimic laryngeal cancer (3,4). There are no specific findings of extrapulmonary tuberculosis in ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) positron emission tomography/computed tomography (PET/CT), which can also mimic malignancy (5). Herein we present a case of laryngeal tuberculosis who underwent ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT imaging with a preliminary diagnosis of laryngeal carcinoma without any clinical pulmonary manifestations.

Case Report

A 51-year-old woman was referred to our otolaryngology clinic with a history of cough, hoarseness, and sore throat. Her prior medical history was unremarkable. She had been

Address for Correspondence: Arzu Cengiz MD, Adnan Menderes University Faculty of Medicine, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Aydın, Turkey Phone: +90 505 264 58 57 E-mail: arzukincengiz@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-2110-4450 Received: 26.08.2016 Accepted: 01.01.2017

> [©]Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.

smoking for the past 20 years. The laryngoscopy revealed diffuse swelling and a lesion involving both arytenoids and the marginal portion of the epiglottis, which suggested carcinoma of the larynx. Histopathologic examination of the lesion demonstrated necrosis and was interpreted as suspicious for malignancy, thus recommending a second biopsy.

Contrast-enhanced computed tomography (CT) scan of the neck demonstrated edema and asymmetry of the epiglottic vallecula. Thorax CT showed multiple nodules that resembled pulmonary metastases on both lungs. The patient underwent ^{18F-FDG} PET/CT imaging for diagnosis and staging. PET/CT imaging showed hypermetabolic focus on left aryepiglottic fold and interarytenoid area maximum standard uptake values (SUV_{max}): 8.9 without any anatomical correlation. In addition, there were multiple hypometabolic nodules (SUV_{max}: 1.5) and hypermetabolic infiltrations (SUV_{max}: 6) on both lungs along with mildly hypermetabolic cervical lymph nodes (Figure 1, 2). The second laryngeal biopsy revealed necrotizing granulomatous inflammation suggesting tuberculosis (Figure 3). PCR assay was positive for mycobacterium tuberculosis. The patient was diagnosed as lung and laryngeal tuberculosis, and was started on antituberculosis medication.



Figure 1. Whole body ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT imaging revealed high FDG accumulation in the larynx, lung parenchyma and milimetric cervical lymph nodes





Figure 2. PET/CT fusion images showed hypermetabolic foci in the left aryepiglottic fold and interarytenoid area maximum standard uptake values (SUV_{max}): 8.9 (A). On transaxial thorax fusion images, there were multiple hypometabolic nodules (SUV_{max}: 1.5) and hypermetabolic infiltrations (SUV_{max}: 6) on both lungs, indicating tuberculosis (B)



Figure 3. Photomicrograph showing giant cell granuloma (hematoxylin&eosin x200)

Literature Review and Discussion

Although a rare clinical condition, larvngeal tuberculosis is the most common granulomatous disease of the larynx. Primary laryngeal disease is rare and it usually occurs due to hematogenous dissemination or direct extension of a pulmonary tuberculosis infection (6). The chief complaints in our patient were cough, hoarseness and sore throat. The most common presenting symptom is hoarseness. which is reported to be present in 80-100% of patients. Other symptoms include odynophagia, dysphagia, dyspnea, stridor, cough and hemoptysis (7). These symptoms are also associated with laryngeal carcinoma. On physical examination, laryngeal tuberculosis can manifest as edema, hyperemia, ulcerations, nodule or an exophytic mass. Vocal cords are the most affected site followed by the ventricular strip, epiglottis, subglottic region and posterior commissure (8). CT and MR imaging demonstrate the diffuse nature of the disease and the involvement of the paralaryngeal spaces more accurately than laryngoscopy. Consistent with other studies, Moon et al. (9) detected focal thickening or a mass in the vocal cords, epiglottis and paralaryngeal tissue on CT imaging. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT is a non-invasive imaging method that is being widely used for the differentiation of benign and malignant lesions. However, ¹⁸F-FDG may also accumulate in inflammatory cells. ¹⁸F-FDG uptake has previously been reported in tuberculomas and other tuberculosis related lesions (10). In a study, 88 cases with extrapulmonary tuberculosis was reported to show high ¹⁸F-FDG uptake on PET imaging with a $\ensuremath{\mathsf{SUV}_{\mathsf{max}}}$ ranging from 1.3 to 23.2 (11). In our case, PET/CT imaging showed high ¹⁸F-FDG uptake in the extrapulmonary tuberculosis focus with a SUV_{max} of 8.9. In addition, there were multiple hypometabolic nodules (SUV_{max}: 1.5) and hypermetabolic infiltrations (SUV_{max}: 6) on both lungs, which were consistent with pulmonary tuberculosis that has not been previously diagnosed. As a whole body scanning method, ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT facilitates the detection of extra pulmonary tuberculosis. Although it is a rare condition, extrapulmonary tuberculosis of the head and neck should be kept in mind as part of differential diagnosis, especially in regions where pulmonary tuberculosis is common.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: Y.B., Ş.T.G., Concept: A.C., Y.Y., Design: A.C., Data Collection or Processing: A.C., S.G., F.D., Y.Y., Analysis or Interpretation: A.C., Y.Y., Literature Search: A.C., Writing: A.C., Y.Y.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study has received no financial support.

References

- Topak M, Oysu C, Yelken K, Sahin-Yilmaz A, Kulekci M. Laryngeal involvement in patients with active pulmonary tuberculosis. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2008;265:327-330.
- Egeli E, Oghan F, Alper M, Harputluoglu U, Bulut I. Epiglottic tuberculosis in a patient treated with steroids for Addison's disease. Tohoku J Exp Med 2003;201:119-125.
- Kim MD, Kim DI, Yune HY, Lee BH, Sung KJ, Chung TS, Kim SY. CT findings of laryngeal tuberculosis: comparison to laryngeal carcinoma. J Comput Assist Tomogr 1997;21:29-34.
- Lim JY, Kim KM, Choi EC, Kim YH, Kim HS, Choi HS. Current clinical propensity of laryngeal tuberculosis: review of 60 cases. Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol 2006;263:838-842.
- Fernandez P, Guyot M, Lazaro E, Viallard JF, Allard M, Ducassou D. Systemic tuberculosis presenting as an epiglottic mass detected on F-18 FDG PET/CT. Clin Nucl Med 2007;32:719-724.
- Rizzo PB, Da Mosto MC, Clari M, Scotton PG, Vaglia A, Marchiori C. Laryngeal tuberculosis: an often forgotten diagnosis. Int J Infect Dis 2003;7:129-131.
- Smulders YE, De Bondt BJ, Lacko M, Hodge JA, Kross KW. Laryngeal tuberculosis presenting as a supraglottic carcinoma: a case report and review of the literature. J Med Case Rep 2009;20;3:9288.
- Yencha MW, Linfesty R, Blackmon A. Laryngeal tuberculosis. Am J Otolaryngol 2000;21:122-126.
- Moon WK, Han MH, Chang KH, Kim HJ, Im JG, Yeon KM, Han MC. Laryngeal tuberculosis: CT findings. AJR Am J Roentgenol 1996;166:445-449.
- Goo JM, Im JG, Do KH, Yeo JS, Seo JB, Kim HY, Chung JK. Pulmonary tuberculoma evaluated by means of FDG PET: findings in 10 cases. Radiology 2000;216;117-121.
- Liu W, Li X, Yin J, Li X, Wang X. [Diagnostic value of (18)F-FDG PET/ CT in extrapulmonary tuberculosis]. Nan Fang Yi Ke Da Xue Xue Bao 2013;33:1083-1086.



I-131 Radiation-Induced Myelosuppression in Differentiated Thyroid Cancer Therapy

Diferansiye Tiroid Kanser Tedavisinde I-131 Radyasyona Bağlı Miyelosüpresyon

Stephan Probst¹
 Gad Abikhzer¹
 Guillaume Chaussé¹
 Michael Tamilia²
 Jewish General Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Montreal, Canada
 Jewish General Hospital, Clinic of Endocrinology, Montreal, Canada

Abstract

Radioactive iodine (RAI) treatment of differentiated thyroid cancer has been used in clinical practice for almost 60 years and is generally accepted to be a safe and efficacious treatment. Severe toxicity in the form of radiation pneumonitis, sometimes progressing to fibrosis, and bone marrow suppression are reported but remain rare. We present a case of severe myelosuppression requiring hospitalization and transfusion support in an otherwise well, young female patient who had received 175 mCi I-131 for low-volume micronodular lung disease one month prior, with a cumulative lifetime administered activity of 575 mCi. The most important risk factors for myelosuppression following RAI are the activity received, the amount of functioning thyroid tissue present, and the lifetime cumulative activity received. **Keywords:** Iodine radioisotopes, bone marrow, thyroid neoplasms

Öz

Radyoaktif iyot (RAİ) diferansiye tiroid kanseri tedavisinde yaklaşık 60 yıldır klinik uygulamada kullanılmaktadır ve genellikle güvenli ve etkili bir tedavi olarak kabul edilir. Fibrozise ilerleyebilen radyasyon pnömonisi ve kemik iliği süpresyonu gibi ciddi yan etkiler bildirilmiştir ancak nadiren rastlanır. Bu makalede bir ay önce düşük volümlü mikronodüler akciğer hastalığı için 175 mCi I-131 tedavisi, hayat boyu uygulanan kümülatif aktivite 575 mCi, aldıktan sonra ciddi miyelosüpresyon nedeniyle hastane yatışı ve transfüzyon desteği ihtiyacı olan genç bir kadın hasta sunulmaktadır. RAİ sonrası miyelosüpresyon için en önemli risk faktörleri alınan aktivite miktarı, mevcut fonksiyonel tiroid dokusu ve alınan hayat boyu kümülatif aktivite miktarıdır. **Anahtar kelimeler:** İyot radyoizotopları, kemik iliği, tiroid neoplazmları

Introduction

Well-differentiated thyroid cancers (DTC), although they generally confer a good prognosis, sometimes follow an aggressive disease course (1,2). When they do occur, DTC metastases are best treated with high-dose I-131 if surgical resection is impossible or otherwise ill-advised (3). Radioiodine remnant ablation and high-dose RAI treatment of metastatic disease has been shown to improve diseasespecific mortality in intermediate and high-risk patients (1). Curative-intent treatment can be envisaged with lowvolume micronodular lung or small nodal disease although bone metastases are often resistant to treatment (3). The goal of RAI therapy is to deliver very high doses (>100 Gy) to the tumor while keeping the dose to the bone marrow below 2 Gy (4). Myelosuppression is the

Address for Correspondence: Guillaume Chaussé MD, Jewish General Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Montreal, Canada Phone: +15149791705 E-mail: guillaume.chausse@mail.mcgill.ca ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-4083-0805 Received: 05.09.2016 Accepted: 12.02.2017

> ©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.

most important and dose-limiting toxicity of high-dose I-131 therapy but remains rare in clinical practice. Bone marrow suppression is dose-dependent and highly related to the volume of functional thyroid tissue and lifetime total activity received (3,5). Pulmonary fibrosis is another potentially fatal complication of high-dose I-131 when the tumor burden in the lungs is important (2). Other more common acute toxicities include nausea and vomiting, epigastric discomfort and sialadenitis; however, these are self-limiting conditions (2). Generally, the accepted safe tolerance for the blood (or bone marrow) is a total absorbed dose of 2 Gy or, as a surrogate, less than 80 mCi whole-body retention at 48 h with lung metastases and 120 mCi at 48 h without lung lesions (6,7). Dosimetry, although described in the literature, involves estimates and assumptions, remains time-consuming and expensive, and is not routinely performed at our institution (1). However, dosimetric calculations can lead to the safe administration of higher treatment doses for about a guarter of patients; and conversely can identify the small number of patients in which empiric doses must be reduced (4). Most centers, including ours, have gravitated towards an empiric, fixeddose treatment regimen using 30-200 mCi for RAI. Although certain authors have suggested that empiric dosing often exceeds maximum tolerated activities in older patients, most institutions do not report clinically significant adverse outcomes (2.6). In keeping with our experience, some authors note that while myelosuppression is common in patients treated with single-treatment activities up to 300 mCi, it is almost invariably mild (2).

Case Report

All of the procedures and treatments described in the case report have been performed according to clinical practice standards at our institution after obtaining the patient's informed consent. Following the initial diagnosis, the patient underwent a total thyroidectomy and lymph node dissection for a 5 cm x 3.5 cm x 2.2 cm diffuse sclerosing variant of papillary thyroid cancer on Feb 9th 2000, at age 19. There were positive margins and all eleven sampled lymph nodes were positive for malignancy. The patient was thyroglobulin antibody-positive and further thyroglobulin measurements were not performed. She underwent radioiodine remnant ablation with 150 mCi I-131 on April 18th 2000 and follow-up post-therapy whole-body scanning revealed no iodine-avid disease outside of the thyroid bed. Subsequent whole-body I-131 scans and high resolution ultrasound of the neck remained negative and the patient was considered to be disease-free until December 2004 when routine iodine-scintiscanning revealed abnormal foci of uptake in the thyroid bed, the left neck and the superior mediastinum. The patient was admitted for high dose I-131 and received 150 mCi on September 17th 2004. Posttherapy scanning revealed the same three pre-treatment foci, and additional uptake at both lung bases, compatible

85

with functioning DTC lung metastases. In 2005 and 2006 serial chest CTs demonstrated slowly progressing scattered milimetric lung nodules bilaterally. Several ultrasound scans of the neck failed to show any local disease. The patient was retreated for progressive micronodular lung metastases with 100 mCi I-131 on September 6th 2006. Post-therapeutic scanning revealed persistent but improved cervical foci and diffuse increased uptake in both lungs. In view of false-negative tracer-dose I-131 scanning, a decision was taken at this time to re-treat the patient in 9 months' time empirically with high-dose radioiodine. She then received 175 mCi I-131 on July 24th 2007, for a total lifetime activity of 575 mCi. Post-therapy scanning approximately 1 week later again showed lung uptake, but it was much improved as compared to 2006. No complete blood count (CBC), chemistry panel or other blood work was ordered at the time of admission for RAI treatment as this was not part of the institution's protocol, and the patient was discharged in good clinical condition to follow up with her endocrinologist. About one month post-treatment on August 26th 2007, the patient presented to her local community hospital complaining of fatigue, heavy menses, epistaxis, headache and multiple pre-syncopal episodes in the preceding week. Upon investigation she was found to have pancytopenia with a platelet count of 12.000 per microliter, a hemoglobin (Hg) of 85 g/L, a white blood cell (WBC) count of 1.5 per microliter and neutrophils of 0.7 per microliter. The first CBC performed at our institution on the following day is explained in detail in Table 1. Although no recent values were available for a trend comparison, a CBC in 2002 (5 years prior) was completely within normal limits and the most recent CBC in 2004 (3 years prior) was remarkable only for a slightly low platelet count of 112.000 per microliter (reference range 150-400.000 per microliter). Her TSH was appropriately suppressed and free T4 was just above the upper limit of normal. Blood pressure (112/71 mmHg), heart rate (64 BPM) and serum biochemistry were normal and she was afebrile when she was transferred to our institution for further treatment. Upon admission, packed red blood cell (RBC) and platelet transfusions were given and the granulocyte colony-stimulating factor analog, filgrastim (300 mcg SQ QD) and erythropoietin (48.000 units SQ QWeek) were started. The Hg and WBC trends from the admission are illustrated in Graphic 1; the jumps in Hg represent RBC transfusions. The full virological work-up was negative. Vitamin B12 and folate levels were normal. The immunoglobulin profile, beta-2 microglobulin and iron studies were unremarkable. The patient had an inappropriately low level of circulating reticulocytes, given her anemia. The hematology consult team, having failed to identify any other cause of the pancytopenia, settled on a working diagnosis of RAI-induced bone marrow suppression. The patient's admission was complicated by a febrile neutropenic episode which was empirically treated for a number of days with ticarcillin/clavulanate and gentamycin; however, a source of infection was never identified and the

fever resolved. A single episode of hypotension also arose and responded well to intravenous fluid challenge. RBCs, platelets and WBCs showed slow recovery towards the end of the admission period. She was discharged 17 days later in good condition with blood counts still below normal, to be followed up closely with her endocrinologist and other specialists. Extensive post-discharge testing was negative, including anti-nuclear antibodies, physical and chemical urinalysis, Westergren sedimentation rate, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, C-reactive protein and extractable nuclear antigen antibody screening. Follow-up consultations with hematology, rheumatology and other specialists failed to turn up any alternative diagnoses such as connective tissue diseases which could explain the cytopenia. The cytopenias

Table 1.	Complete	blood	count	on	presentation	
						l

CBC	Result	Flag	Reference range	
Hemoglobin	75	Low	120-152 g/L	
Red blood cells	2.27	Low	4.10-5.10x10 ¹² /L	
Hematocrit	0.2	Low	0.360-0.450	
Mean corpuscular volume	88.1		80.0-96.0 fL	
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin	33		27.0-33.0 pg	
Mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration	375	High	310-370 g/L	
Red cell distribution width coefficient of variation	12.5		11.5-14.5 c/v	
Red cell distribution width standard deviation	39.9		36.1-53.3 fL	
Platelets	32	Panic low	150-400x10 ⁹ /L	
Mean platelet volume	9.4	Low	9.9-11.8 fL	
White blood cells	1.2	Panic Iow	4.0-11.0x10 ⁹ /L	
Automated differential				
Immature granulocytes	0.8		N/A %	
Neutrophils (%)	55.6		45.0-75.0%	
Lymphocytes (%)	36.1		25.0-45.0%	
Monocytes (%)	5		2.0-12.0%	
Eosinophils (%)	2.5		0.0-6.0%	
Basophils (%)	0		0.0-2.0%	
Neutrophils (#)	0.7	Low	1.8-7.5x10 ⁹ /L	
Lymphocytes (#)	0.4	Low	1.2-3.5x10 ⁹ /L	
Monocytes (#)	0.1	Low	0.2-0.8x10 ⁹ /L	
Eosinophils (#)	0		0.0-0.5x10 ⁹ /L	
Basophils (#)	0		0.0-0.2x10 ⁹ /L	
CBC: Complete blood count				

spontaneously recovered as assessed in subsequent followups (Graphic 1). The last thyrogen-stimulated 2 mCi I-123 scan in October 2014 did not demonstrate active thyroid tissue. At the last clinical follow-up in June 2015, the patient had no evidence of recurrence of thyroid disease or signs of marrow suppression.

Discussion

Following oral RAI administration, blood radioiodine concentrations follow 2 distinct phases. In the first phase (0-48 h) inorganic free iodine is absorbed through the GI mucosa and is quickly removed from plasma by thyroid tissue and the kidneys. The second phase (2-10 d) sees a rise in plasma RAI activity as radioiodinated thyroid hormone is released by functioning tissue (5). The area under the curve of the free inorganic iodine time-activity profile in phase 1 is variable and related to the total body iodine stores and renal function. However, due to the relatively brief rise and fall of plasma radio-iodine concentrations in phase 1, the dose to the bone marrow is largely related to the amount of radioiodinated thyroid hormone formed and released in the second phase. The peak of the second phase is also highly variable, relating to the amount of functioning thyroid tissue present, both malignant and benign. Therefore, the burden of tumor (or normal functioning thyroid tissue in the case of a first ablative dose post-thyroidectomy) is the major factor in determining the total dose to the bone marrow for a given administered activity (6). As opposed to exogenous thyroid hormone withdrawal, rhTSH stimulation seems to increase overall RAI clearance rates by as much as 30%, although the clinical implications of this are unclear (6,8,9). Administration of high doses of I-131 as opposed to limited dose fractionation has several purported advantages (1). The general consensus is that the first treatment is potentially the most efficacious as radio-resistant clones are naturally selected by the exposure (2). Tumor heterogeneity



Graphic 1. Hematologic parameters *WBC: White blood cells, Hg: Hemoglobin*

is an important consideration, as RAI-concentrating abilities of DTC can vary widely within a single lesion (1). The loss of crossfire effect following the destruction of RAI-avid tissue will tend to diminish the effectiveness of subsequent RAI administrations (1,2). Also, dedifferentiation with loss of radioiodine-avidity and finally anaplastic transformation are poor-prognosis events in DTC (2). The risk of leukemia, aplastic anemia and myelodysplastic syndrome post highdose RAI seems to be more strongly correlated with cumulative dose to the bone marrow than with the activity of any given treatment. This too would support the notion that fewer doses with more activity per dose is likely to be beneficial to the patient (1,10). However, there have been data suggesting that lifetime cumulative doses of RAI have a protracted and clinically significant impact on peripheral blood counts (5). In our patient, the last dose of radioiodine (175 mCi) and the burden of functioning disease as assessed by post-therapeutic scintiscanning was not out of the ordinary for our institution. Her CBCs in the years prior had been normal or near-normal. This is the first patient we have encountered who presented following RAI therapy with such profound myelosuppression. At our hospital, larger doses are given for larger tumor volumes and to older patients with putatively less bone marrow reserve on a routine basis. It must be noted that at a total lifetime administered activity of 575 mCi, our patient was on the higher-end of the 600-800 mCi lifetime ceiling suggested by some authorities. This total lifetime administered activity is also on the very high end of the range which we encounter at our institution. Extensive work-up failed to identify another cause for our patient's pancytopenia. Although the high variability of bone marrow absorbed dose in relation to a given activity of I-131 can be influenced by many factors, the profound hematologic toxicity encountered in this patient lends credence to the theory that the cumulative effect of multiple doses can persist over time (5). In conclusion, although there is no way to definitively diagnose the condition, we suspect that our patient was suffering from radiation-induced bone marrow suppression secondary to RAI administration. The most important risk factors for myelosuppression following RAI are the activity received, the amount of functioning thyroid tissue present, and the lifetime cumulative activity received. It may therefore be wise to monitor patients' blood counts more closely when they: 1) Are receiving more than 150 mCi and have a significant RAI-avid tumor burden as proven by prior scintiscanning or 2) Have a cumulative lifetime dose approaching 500 mCi or more. More research will be needed to fully elucidate these risk factors and the impact on potential RAI-induced myelosuppression.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T., Concept: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T., Design: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T., Data Collection or Processing: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T., Analysis or Interpretation: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T., Literature Search: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T., Writing: S.P., G.A., G.C., M.T.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Dorn R, Kopp J, Vogt H, Heidenreich P, Carroll RG, Gulec SA. Dosimetry-guided radioactive iodine treatment in patients with metastatic differentiated thyroid cancer: largest safe dose using a risk-adapted approach. J Nucl Med 2003;44:451-456.
- Menzel C, Grünwald F, Schomburg A, Palmedo H, Bender H, Späth G, Biersack HJ. "High-dose" radioiodine therapy in advanced differentiated thyroid carcinoma. J Nucl Med 1996;37:1496-1503.
- Rufini V, Salvatori M, Saletnich I, Luzi S, Fadda G, Shapiro B, Troncone L. Disseminated bone marrow metastases of insular thyroid carcinoma detected by radioiodine whole-body scintigraphy. J Nucl Med 1996;37:633-636.
- Freudenberg LS, Jentzen W, Görges R, Petrich T, Marlowe RJ, Knust J, Bockisch A. 124I-PET dosimetry in advanced differentiated thyroid cancer: therapeutic impact. Nuklearmedizin 2007;46:121-128.
- Keldsen N, Mortensen BT, Hansen HS. Haematological effects from radioiodine treatment of thyroid carcinoma. Acta Oncol 1990;29:1035-1039.
- Tuttle RM, Leboeuf R, Robbins RJ, Qualey R, Pentlow K, Larson SM, Chan CY. Empiric radioactive iodine dosing regimens frequently exceed maximum tolerated activity levels in elderly patients with thyroid cancer. J Nucl Med 2006;47:1587-1591.
- Jonklaas J. Role of radioactive iodine for adjuvant therapy and treatment of metastases. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2007;5:631-640.
- De Keizer B, Hoekstra A, Konijnenberg MW, de Vos F, Lambert B, van Rijk PP, Lips CJ, de Klerk JM. Bone marrow dosimetry and safety of high 1311 activities given after recombinant human thyroidstimulating hormone to treat metastatic differentiated thyroid cancer. J Nucl Med 2004;45:1549-1554.
- Vaiano A, Claudio Traino A, Boni G, Grosso M, Lazzeri P, Colato C, Davì MV, Francia G, Lazzeri M, Mariani G, Ferdeghini M. Comparison between remnant and red-marrow absorbed dose in thyroid cancer patients submitted to 1311 ablative therapy after rh-TSH stimulation versus hypothyroidism induced by L-thyroxine withdrawal. Nucl Med Commun 2007;28:215-223.
- Tanigawa K, Yamashita S, Nagataki S. Pancytopenia after repeated radioiodine treatment on metastatic thyroid cancer to bone. Chin Med J (Engl) 1995;108:796-797.



A Case of Hypertrophic Pulmonary Osteoarthropathy in Both Upper and Lower Extremities: A Rare Involvement

Üst ve Alt Ekstremitede Hipertrofik Pulmoner Osteoartropati Olgusu: Nadir Bir Görünüm

Berna Okudan,
 Nazım Coşkun,
 Pelin Ancan,
 Rıza Şefizade,
 Seniha Naldöken
 Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey

Abstract

Hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy (HPOA) is a paraneoplastic manifestation of gastric and, more frequently, lung carcinomas. It is characterized by extremity pain, clubbing, arthritis and periostitis of the long bones. Periostitis is the hallmark of HPOA and can be revealed with bone scintigraphy. Whole-body bone scintigraphy (WBBS) is very sensitive during the active lesion period and WBBS findings usually precede that of plain radiography. WBBS can also show improvement in the first 6 months following treatment, thus making it an important technique in the management and follow-up of these patients. While HPOA findings are usually seen in the lower extremities, involvement of both upper and lower extremities is a rare condition. In this case report, it is aimed to present findings of a 67-year-old male patient with lung cancer and complaint of extremity pain. We report on this patient to draw attention to HPOA of both upper and lower extremities. **Keywords:** Hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy, lung cancer, upper extremity

Öz

Hipertrofik pulmoner osteoartopati (HPOA), mide ve özellikle akciğer kanserlerinde görülebilen bir paraneoplastik sendromdur. Çomak parmak, artrit, ekstremite ağrısı ve uzun kemiklerde periostit ile karakterizedir. Periostit HPOA'nın ayırıcı bulgularındandır ve sintigrafi ile gösterilebilir. Sintigrafik bulgular çoğunlukla radyolojik bulgulardan önce ortaya çıkar. Tüm vücut kemik sintigrafisi (TVKS) aktif lezyon döneminde oldukça duyarlıdır. TVKS ile tedavi sonrası ilk 6 ayda bulgularda gerileme gösterilebilir. Dolayısıyla TVKS, bu hastaların tanı ve takibinde önemli bir yer tutar. HPOA bulguları çoğunlukla alt ekstremitede görülür; hem üst hem alt ekstremite tutulumu nadir görülen bir durumdur. Bu olgu takdimi, ekstremite ağrısı ile başvuran akciğer kanseri hastalarında, hem alt hem üst ekstremitede nadiren görülen HPOA tablosuna dikkat çekmek amacıyla sunulmaktadır.

Anahtar kelimeler: Hipertrofik pulmoner osteoartopati, akciğer kanseri, üst ekstremite

Address for Correspondence: Nazım Coşkun MD, Ankara Numune Training and Research Hospital, Clinic of Nuclear Medicine, Ankara, Turkey Phone: +90 312 508 48 77 E-mail: nazimcoskun@gmail.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0002-1458-9392 Received: 21.06.2017 Accepted: 06.03.2018

> ©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.



Figure 1. A 67-year-old male patient suffering from chest pain, cough, shortness of breath and extremity pain was referred to the department of radiology for imaging. Computed tomography of the chest showed a large mass in the right lung and biopsy cytology results were positive for adenocarcinoma. The patient was then referred to the department of nuclear medicine for whole-body bone scintigraphy (WBBS) due to extremity pain.



Figure 2. The WBBS showed non-homogeneous cortical uptake in bilateral upper and lower extremity bones, consistent with hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy (HPOA). Multiple focal spots were also seen on right hemithorax costae, possibly due to trauma. HPOA is a paraneoplastic manifestation of gastric and, more frequently, lung carcinomas. It is characterized by extremity pain, clubbing, arthritis and periostitis of the long bones. HPOA findings in lower extremities have been previously reported (1,2,3). However, involvement of both upper and lower extremities is a rare condition. Periostitis is the hallmark of HPOA and can be revealed with bone scintigraphy (4). WBBS is very sensitive during the active lesion period and WBBS findings usually appear before radiography findings. WBBS can also display the improvement within the first 6 months following treatment, thus making it an important technique in the management and follow-up of these patients.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N., Concept: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N., Design: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N., Data Collection or Processing: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N., Analysis or Interpretation: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N., Literature Search: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N., Writing: B.O., N.C., P.A., R.Ş., S.N.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Ntaios G, Adamidou A, Karamitsos D. Hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy secondary to bronchial adenocarcinoma and coexisting pulmonary tuberculosis: a case report. Cases J 2008;1:221.
- Cruz C, Rocha M, Andrade D, Guimarães F, Silva V, Souza S, Moura CA, Moura CG. Hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy with positive antinuclear antibodies: case report. Case Rep Oncol 2012;5:308-312.
- Rhee SM, Park KJ, Ha YC. Hypertrophic Osteoarthropathy in Patient with Crohn's Disease: A Case Report. J Bone Metab 2014;21:151-154.
- 4. Qian X, Qin J. Hypertrophic pulmonary osteoarthropathy with primary lung cancer Oncol Lett 2014;7:2079-2082.



Disseminated Multi-system Sarcoidosis Mimicking Metastases on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT

¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'de Metastazı Taklit Eden Dissemine Multisistem Sarkoidoz

William Makis¹, Mark Palayew², Christopher Rush², Stephan Probst²
 ¹Cross Cancer Institute, Department of Diagnostic Imaging, Edmonton, Canada
 ²Jewish General Hospital, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Montreal, Canada

Abstract

A 60-year-old female with no significant medical history presented with hematuria. A computed tomography (CT) scan revealed extensive lymphadenopathy with hypodensities in the liver and spleen, and she was referred for an ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose (¹⁸F-FDG) positron emission tomography/CT (PET/CT) study to assess for malignancy of unknown primary. PET/CT revealed extensive ¹⁸F-FDG avid lymphadenopathy as well as innumerable intensely ¹⁸F-FDG avid lung, liver and splenic nodules, highly concerning for malignancy. A PET-guided bone marrow biopsy of the posterior superior iliac spine revealed several non-necrotizing, well-formed granulomas, consistent with sarcoidosis. The patient was managed conservatively and remained clinically well over the subsequent 9 years of follow-up.

Keywords: Sarcoidosis, artifact, mimic, lymphadenopathy, metastases, ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose, positron emission tomography

Öz

Tibbi anamnezinde özellik olmayan 60 yaşında bir kadın hematüri ile başvurdu. Bilgisayarlı tomografide (BT) yaygın lenfadenopatiyle birlikte karaciğer ve dalakta hipodens alanlar saptanması üzerine primeri bilinmeyen malignite değerlendirilmesi amacıyla ¹⁸F-fluorodeoksiglukoz (¹⁸F-FDG) pozitron emisyon tomografisi/BT (PET/BT) için yönlendirildi. PET/ BT'de ¹⁸F-FDG tutan yaygın lenfadenopatiler ve ölçülemeyecek kadar fazla yoğun ¹⁸F-FDG tutan akciğer, karaciğer ve dalak nodülleri saptandı, malignite açısından şüpheli bulundu. PET-kılavuzluğunda posterior superior spina iliacadan yapılan kemik iliği biyopsisinde sarkoidoz ile uyumlu non-kazeifiye granülomlar saptandı. Hasta konservatif olarak takip edildi ve 9 yıllık takip süresinde klinik sorun oluşmadı.

Anahtar kelimeler: Sarkoidoz, artefakt, taklit etme, lenfadenopati, metastaz, ¹⁸F-fluorodeoksiglukoz, pozitron emisyon tomografi

Address for Correspondence: William Makis MD, Wiliam Makis Professional Corporation, Cross Cancer Institute, Department of Diagnostic Imaging, Edmonton, Canada

Phone: +07804328760 E-mail: makisw79@yahoo.com ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0241-3426

Received: 02.10.2017 Accepted: 26.11.2017

©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.



Figure 1. A 60-year-old woman, non-smoker with no significant medical history presented with recurrent hematuria. Computed tomography (CT) abdomen/pelvis identified intra-abdominal, retroperitoneal and inguinal lymphadenopathy, and small hepatic/splenic hypodensities, prompting referral for positron emission tomography/CT (PET/CT) to assess for malignancy of unknown origin. Maximum intensity projection images revealed widespread foci of intense ¹⁸F-FDG uptake throughout the skeleton and soft-tissues.



Figure 2. Transaxial (A) PET/CT fusion, (B) PET, and (C) CT images revealed extensive bone involvement of the skull base, right clavicle, spine, multiple ribs, sternum, proximal left humerus, right femur and extensively throughout the pelvis with maximum standardized uptake value (SUV_{max}) 8.3.



Figure 3. Intense ¹⁸F-FDG uptake was also noted in numerous peribronchovascular and subpleural nodules in both lungs (largest was 1.0 cm in diameter with SUV_{max} 3.2).



Figure 4. There was widespread adenopathy including left retromandibular, mediastinal, hilar, abdominal, retroperitoneal and inguinal nodes (largest mediastinal node measured 1.4 cm, and the most metabolically active was a right perihilar lymph node with SUV_{max} 5.2). The innumerable liver and spleen hypodensities identified on CT were intensely ¹⁸F-FDG avid with SUV_{max} 4.3 in the liver and 5.9 in the spleen. No primary malignancy was identified, but findings were interpreted as highly concerning for disseminated metastatic disease. The patient remained asymptomatic. PET-guided bone marrow biopsy of the left posterior superior iliac spine revealed several non-necrotizing, well-formed granulomas. These granulomas were paratrabecular in distribution and were composed of tightly apposed epithelioid histiocytes, with occasional multinucleated giant cells, consistent with sarcoidosis.



Figure 5. Follow-up diagnostic CT of chest/abdomen/pelvis performed 6 months later, again revealed extensive poorly marginated lung nodules, thoracic and abdominal lymphadenopathy, and splenic and hepatic hypodensities, unchanged as compared to prior PET/CT and consistent with stable granulomatous disease. The patient was managed conservatively with observation and remained malignancy-free over the subsequent 9 years of clinical and imaging follow-up. Sarcoidosis is a chronic multisystem granulomatous disorder of unknown etiology, which is characterized pathologically by non-caseating granulomas that can present almost anywhere in the body (1,2,3,4). ¹⁸F-FDG uptake in the granulomas of sarcoidosis can be very intense, likely due to metabolic activity of activated macrophages (2,3,5). ¹⁸F-FDG-avid lesions of skeletal sarcoidosis cannot be reliably differentiated from metastases or other benign bone processes (Paget's disease, fibrous dysplasia, giant cell tumors, osteomyelitis) on the basis of semi-quantitative (SUV), visual or other analysis, and therefore remain a pitfall of oncologic PET/CT interpretation (6,7,8,9,10). ¹⁸F-FDG uptake in pulmonary sarcoidosis patients (11). CT studies show presence of hepatic and splenic nodules in approximately 5-15% of sarcoidosis patients and splenic nodules tend to be larger than hepatic nodules (12). Intense ¹⁸F-FDG uptake in hepatic and splenic as splenic as splenic as splenic as splenic and splenic as splenic as splenic servidosis lesions has been shows an uncommon presentation of disseminated sarcoidosis in the skeleton, lymph nodes, as well as organs such as the lungs, liver and splene. This impressive pattern of disseminated ¹⁸F-FDG uptake can be easily mistaken for extensive metastatic disease when interpreting oncologic PET/CT studies.

Ethics

Informed Consent: All subjects in the study gave written informed consent or the institutional review board waived the need to obtain informed consent.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P., Concept: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P., Design: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P., Data Collection or Processing: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P., Analysis or Interpretation: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P., Literature Search: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P., Writing: W.M., M.P., C.R., S.P.

Conflict of Interest: William Makis, Mark Palayew, Christopher Rush and Stephan Probst declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declare that this study has received no financial support.

References

- 1. Judson MA. Sarcoidosis: clinical presentation, diagnosis, and approach to treatment. Am J Med Sci 2008;335:26-33.
- Aberg C, Ponzo F, Raphael B, Amorosi E, Moran V, Kramer E. FDG positron emission tomography of bone involvement in sarcoidosis. AJR Am J Roentgenol 2004;182:975-977.
- Zhuang H, Alavi A. 18-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomographic imaging in the detection and monitoring of infection and inflammation. Semin Nucl Med 2002;32:47-59.
- Ludwig V, Fordice S, Lamar R, Martin WH, Delbeke D. Unsuspected skeletal sarcoidosis mimicking metastatic disease on FDG positron emission tomography and bone scintigraphy. Clin Nucl Med 2003;28:176-179.
- Cook GJ, Fogelman I, Maisey MN. Normal physiological and benign pathological variants of 18-fluoro-2-deoxyglucose positron-emission

tomography scanning: potential for error in interpretation. Semin Nucl Med 1996;26:308-314.

- Teirstein AS, Machac J, Almeida O, Lu P, Padilla ML, Iannuzzi MC. Results of 188 Whole Body FDG PET Scans in 137 Patients with Sarcoidosis. Chest 2007;132:1949-1953.
- Makis W, Probst S. Extensive polyostotic fibrous dysplasia evaluated for malignant transformation with 99mTc-MDP bone scan and 18F-FDG PET/CT. BJR Case Rep 2016;2:1-4.
- Makis W, Stern J. Chronic vascular graft infection with fistula to bone causing vertebral osteomyelitis, imaged with F-18 FDG PET/CT. Clin Nucl Med 2010;35:794-796.
- Aoki J, Watanabe H, Shinozaki T, Takagishi K, Ishijima H, Oya N, Sato N, Inoue T, Endo K. FDG PET of primary benign and malignant bone tumors: standardized uptake value in 52 lesions. Radiology 2001;219:774-777.
- Kobayashi A, Shinozaki T, Shinjyo Y, Kato K, Oriuchi N, Watanabe H, Takagishi K. FDG PET in the clinical evaluation of sarcoidosis with bone lesions. Ann Nucl Med 2000;14:311-313.
- 11. Sobic-Saranovic D, Artiko V, Obradovic V. FDG PET imaging in sarcoidosis. Semin Nucl Med 2013;43:404-411.
- Warshauer DM, Molina PL, Hamman SM, Koehler RE, Paulson EK, Bechtold RE, Perlmutter ML, Hiken JN, Francis IR, Cooper CJ, et al. Nodular sarcoidosis of the liver and spleen: analysis of 32 cases. Radiology 1995:195:757-762.
- Soussan M, Augier A, Brillet PY, Weinmann P, Valeyre D. Functional imaging in extrapulmonary sarcoidosis: FDG-PET/CT and MR features. Clin Nucl Med 2014;39:e146-159.



Hypermetabolic Hurthle Cell Adenoma on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT

¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT'de Hipermetabolik Hurthle Hücreli Adenom

● Aamna Hassan¹, ● Saima Riaz¹, ● Amna Asif²

¹Shaukat Khanum Memorial Cancer Hospital and Research Centre, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Lahore, Pakistan ²Shaukat Khanum Memorial Cancer Hospital and Research Centre, Department of Pathology, Lahore, Pakistan

Abstract

Thyroid incidentalomas are frequently reported on ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT scan. High risk of malignancy is thought to be associated with increased metabolic activity and high standardized uptake value. Likewise, thyroid nodules with focal FDG avidity have a higher potential to be malignant. However, some benign nodules such as follicular and Hurthle cell adenomas can also present with focal hypermetabolic activity. We report a case of a 59-year-old lady diagnosed with gastric carcinoma, who had a hypermetabolic thyroid nodule on FDG PET/CT scan. Despite the complex texture of the nodule and intense focal avidity, the histopathology was consistent with Hurtle cell adenoma.

Keywords: Thyroid, Incidentaloma, ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT, Hurthle cell adenoma

Öz

¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT görüntülemede tiroid insidentalomalarına sık rastlanır. Yüksek malignite riski artmış metabolik aktivite ve yüksek standart tutulum değeri ile ilişkilendirilmektedir. Fokal FDG tutulumu olan tiroid nodüllerinde malignite olasılığı benzer şekilde artmaktadır. Ne var ki, foliküler ve Hurthle hücreli adenom gibi bazı benign nodüller fokal hipermetabolik aktivite gösterebilir. Bu yazıda gastrik adenokarsinom tanısı almış ve FDG PET/BT'de hipermetabolik tiroid nodülü saptanan 59 yaşında bir kadın hasta sunulmaktadır. Nodülün sert yapısı ve yoğun fokal tutuluma rağmen histopatoloji değerlendirmesi Hurthle hücreli adenom ile uyumlu idi.

Anahtar kelimeler: Tiroid, insidentaloma, ¹⁸F-FDG PET/BT, Hurthle hücreli adenom

Address for Correspondence: Aamna Hassan MD, Shaukat Khanum Memorial Cancer Hospital and Research Centre, Department of Nuclear Medicine, Lahore, Pakistan Phone: +924235905000 E-mail: aamnah@skm.org.pk ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0003-0026-0729

Received: 28.03.2017 Accepted: 10.07.2017

©Copyright 2018 by Turkish Society of Nuclear Medicine Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy published by Galenos Yayınevi.



Figure 1. A 59-year-old female patient with a diagnosis of gastric carcinoma was referred for staging ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT scan. Imaging was performed 60 minutes after a dose of 294 MBq, on an integrated 16-slice PET/CT scanner, with scanning from the vertex to the mid-thigh. ¹⁸F-FDG PET/CT scan axial views of the lower neck showed a hypermetabolic, heterogeneously enhancing right thyroid nodule with low attenuation [2.7 cm, standardized uptake value (SUV) 17.5]. The left thyroid lobe was unremarkable both radiologically and metabolically.

Ultrasound correlation and targeted biopsy of the right thyroid nodule was recommended. The patient was clinically and biochemically euthyroid. Fine needle aspiration cytology was consistent with follicular neoplasm, Bethesda category IV. Thereafter, the patient underwent partial thyroidectomy.



Figure 2. Histopathology evaluation revealed Hurthle cell adenoma (2.5 cm). Figure 2 displays histopathological characteristics of a well circumscribed neoplasm with a thin walled capsule (A). The low power view of adenoma at 4x (B) shows the cells arranged in sheets. Individual cells have abundant granular oncocytic cytoplasm with round large nuclei and prominent nucleoli (C, D). Thyroid incidentalomas are frequently detected on FDG PET/CT scan during oncological work-up. A normal thyroid gland shows homogenous, mild FDG uptake on PET/CT images (1). High, focal metabolic activity usually has a higher tendency to be malignant (2). In the absence of frank local invasion or adenopathy, it is difficult to characterize a thyroid nodule on CT scan (3). Heterogeneous complex textured thyroid nodules with an average size of 2.0 cm are radiologically concerning for malignancy (4). At our institution, the prevalence of thyroid incidentalomas identified by FDG PET/CT is 1.7% (5), which is in line with the prior literature (2). FDG uptake in a lesion is dependent on the rate of glycolysis. Malignant lesions take up FDG in significantly higher fractions as compared to benign lesions. Focal FDG uptake in the thyroid uptake is usually related to benign causes such as Graves' disease and thyroiditis (2). Our institutional experience has shown 48% of the focal FDG avid thyroid incidentalomas to be malignant. The case presented herein had a complex thyroid nodule and the appearance was concerning for metastatic involvement. Despite the higher clinical suspicion of malignancy, our final histopathology was consistent with a benign pathology, i.e. Hurthle cell adenoma. Hurthle cells are oxyphilic variant of follicular cells, and depict granular cytoplasm due to the high content of intra-cytoplasmic mitochondria (9). The intense metabolic activity in this nodule on FDG PET/CT scan can be explained on the basis of this abundance of intra-cytoplasmic mitochondria.

Most prior studies suggest that high SUV is associated with thyroid malignancy. However, some conflicting results have also been reported with overlapping SUV of benign and malignant thyroid incidentalomas (10). It has been reported that 1.5–2.1% of benign thyroid nodules might show high SUV in FDG PET/CT scans (11). In view of these false positive findings, high metabolic activity on FDG PET/CT cannot accurately distinguish between benign and malignant nodules. Our case is an example where intense avidity of a thyroid nodule on FDG PET/CT was deceptive for being a malignant lesion.

Ethics

Informed Consent: Consent form was filled out by all participants.

Peer-review: Externally and internally peer-reviewed.

Authorship Contributions

Surgical and Medical Practices: A.H., S.R., A.A., Concept: A.H., Design: A.H., S.R., Data Collection or Processing: A.H., S.R., A.A., Analysis or Interpretation: A.H., S.R., A.A., Literature Search: A.H., S.R., Writing: A.H., S.R.

Conflict of Interest: No conflict of interest was declared by the authors.

Financial Disclosure: The authors declared that this study received no financial support.

References

- Liu Y. Clinical significance of thyroid uptake on F18fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. Ann Nucl Med 2009;23:17-23.
- Nakamoto Y, Tatsumi M, Hammoud D, Cohade C, Osman MM, Wahl RL. Normal FDG distribution patterns in the head and neck: PET/CT evaluation. Radiology 2005;234:879-885.
- Hoang JK, Raduazo P, Yousem DM, Eastwood JD. What to do with incidental thyroid nodules on imaging? An approach for the radiologist. Semin Ultrasound CT MR 2012;33:150-157.

- Cohen MS, Arslan N, Dehdashti F, Doherty GM, Lairmore TC, Brunt LM, Moley JF. Risk of malignancy in thyroid incidentalomas identified by fluorodeoxyglucose- positron emission tomography. Surgery 2001;130:941-946.
- Hassan A, Riaz S, Zafar W. Fluorine-18 fluorodeoxyglucose avid thyroid incidentalomas on PET/CT scan in cancer patients: how sinister are they? Nuc Med Commun 2016;37:1069-1073.
- Kim H, Kim SJ, Kim I, Kim K. Thyroid incidentalomas on FDG PET/ CT in patients with non-thyroid cancer - a large retrospective monocentric study. Onkologie 2013;36:260-264.
- Kim TY, Kim WB, Ryu JS, Gong G, Hong SJ, Shong YK. 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose uptake in thyroid from positron emission tomogram (PET) for evaluation in cancer patients: high prevalence of malignancy in thyroid PET incidentaloma. Laryngoscope 2005;115:1074-1078.
- Are C, Hsu JF, Schoder H, Shah JP, Larson SM, Shaha AR. FDG-PET detected thyroid incidentalomas: need for further investigation? Ann Surg Oncol 2007;14:239-247.
- Maximo V, Sobrinho-Simoes M. Hurthle cell tumours of the thyroid. A review with emphasis on mitochondrial abnormalities with clinical relevance. Virchows Arch 2000;437:107-115.
- Bertagna F, Treglia G, Piccardo A, Giubbini R. Diagnostic and clinical significance of F-18-FDG-PET/CT thyroid incidentalomas. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2012; 97:3866-3875.
- Pathak KA, Klonisch T, Nason RW, Leslie WD. FDG-PET characteristics of Hürthle cell and follicular adenomas. Ann Nucl Med 2016;30:506-509.

MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy

Affirmation of Originality and Assignment of Copyright

This form must be filled in thoroughly and uploaded to the website during the submission

The author(s) hereby affirms that the manuscript entitled:

is original, that all statement asserted as facts are based on author(s) careful investigation and research for accuracy, that the manuscript does not, in whole or part, infringe any copyright, that it has not been published in total or in part and is not being submitted or considered for publication in total or in part elsewhere.

In signing this form, each author acknowledge that he/she participated in the work in a substantive way and is prepared to take public responsibility for the work.

In signing this form, each author further affirms that he or she has read and understands the "Ethical Guidelines for Publication of Research".

The author(s), in consideration of the acceptance of the above work for publication, does hereby assign and transfer to the Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy all of the rights and interest in and the copyright of the above titled work in its current form and in any form subsequently revised for publication and/or electronic dissemination.

All authors must sign in the order in which each is listed in the authorship.

	Date	Name (print)	Signature
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
5.			
6.			
7.			
8.			
9.			
10.			

MIRT

Molecular Imaging and Radionuclide Therapy

Disclosure Form for Potential Conflicts of Interest

Information about the support of this work under consideration for publication.

Did you or your institution at any time receive payment or support in kind for any aspect of the submitted work (including but not limited to grants, data monitoring board, study design, manuscript preparation, statistical analysis, etc...)?

	Name	Νο	Yes (Specify nature of compensation)
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
5.			
6.			
7.			
8.			
9.			
10			

Information about relevant financial relationships outside the submitted work.

Please specify if you have financial relationships (regardless of amount of compensation) with any entities that have an interest related to the submitted work like board membership, consultancy, employment, expert testimony, gifts, grants, honoraria, payment for manuscript preparation, patents, royalties, payment for development of educational presentations including service on speakers' bureaus, travel/accommodations expenses covered or reimbursed, stock/stock options, others.

	Name	Νο	Yes (Specify the nature and the entity)
1.			
2.			
3.			
4.			
5.			
6			
о. 7			
1.			
8.			
9.			
10			